





Analyses of molecular and cellular mechanisms of hypothetical protein FAM188B function in gastrointestinal cancer

Eun-Seok Choi

Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University



Analyses of molecular and cellular mechanisms of hypothetical protein FAM188B function in gastrointestinal cancer

Eun-Seok Choi

Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University



Analyses of molecular and cellular mechanisms of hypothetical protein FAM188B function in gastrointestinal cancer

Directed by Professor Hyoung-Pyo Kim

The Doctoral Dissertation submitted to the Department of Medical Science, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Eun-Seok Choi

June 2018



This certifies that the Doctoral Dissertation of Eun-Seok Choi is approved.

Thesis Supervisor: Hyoung-Pyo Kim

Thesis Committee Member#1: Myoung Hee Kim

Thesis Committee Member#2: Kyung-Hee Chun

Thesis Committee Member#3: Sang Kil Lee

Thesis Committee Member#4: Sung-Ho Goh

The Graduate School Yonsei University

June 2018



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

처음 박사학위과정을 시작하면서 이 기간 동안 최대한 많이 공부 하고 여러 가지 실험기술도 배우자는 생각을 했었습니다. 하지만 시 간이 지나며 배운다기보다는 스스로 해결해야 한다는 생각이 더욱 커 졌습니다. 아마도 박사학위 과정이 무조건 배우는 과정이 아닌 탓이 었기 때문이라고 생각합니다. 도중에 여러 사람들을 만나고 또 먼저 박사학위를 마친 분들의 글을 보면서 항상 나는 이 공부를 하면서 무 엇을 성취하려고 하는지, 박사학위를 받은 분들은 어떤 자격을 갖추 면 무사히 졸업을 할 수 있었는지 고민을 하였습니다. 이러한 과정을 무사히 잘 마칠 수 있도록 조언을 아끼지 않으며 지도해 주신 고성호 박사님, 김형표 교수님 두 분께 가장 감사하다는 말씀을 드리고 싶습 니다. 또한 논문 심사를 진행하며 올바른 논문을 적도록 많은 도움을 주신 전경회 교수님, 김명회 교수님, 이상길 교수님께도 감사의 말씀 을 드립니다.

박사과정으로의 진학결정, 그리고 연구 논문이 하나하나 나올 때 도움을 주신 김경태 박사님, 김용연 박사님, 최용두 박사님, 장현철 박사님, 이상진 박사님, 성지영 박사님께 감사의 말씀을 드립니다. 또한 같이 생활하며 연구 분야와 관심사는 다르지만 진심 어린 충고 와 조언을 해주신 연구원 선생님들께 항상 감사의 마음을 가지고 있



었지만 표현을 하지 못한 점 양해 드리고, 이 지면을 빌어 감사의 말을 전합니다. 미처 다 적지는 못하였지만 지난 학위과정 동안 만난 모든 인연에 고맙다고 생각하고 있습니다.

언제나 저를 믿어주신 사랑하는 부모님, 그리고 나의 동생에게도 감사의 말을 전합니다.

국립암센터-연세대학교 학연협동과정으로 입학하게 해 준 두 기 관도 저의 졸업에서는 무척이나 고마운 곳입니다. 아직 부족한 점이 많지만 졸업을 하고서도 계속해서 과학에 관심을 가지며 도움이 되는 사람이 되려고 합니다. 앞으로는 학교에서 배우는 것이 아닌 홀로 문 제에 대해 고민하고 해결해야 하겠지만 지금껏 배우고 익힌 모든 것 을 활용하여 잘 헤쳐 나가도록 하겠습니다.

2018 년 6 월

최 은 석



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT ·····1					
I. INTRODU	I. INTRODUCTION ······3				
1. Stoma	ach cancer and colon cancer ······3				
2. Hypot	thetical protein FAM188B ·····4				
3. Apopt	tosis and cancer5				
II. MATERIA	II. MATERIALS AND METHODS ······7				
1. Datas	ets and extraction of differentially expressed genes ····7				
2. Drug	resistance test ······8				
3. Short	hairpin RNA (shRNA) treated stable cell lines8				
4. Analy	rsis of the FAM188B sequence conservation9				
5. Cell c	ulture and human tissue samples ······9				
6. Rever	rse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)				
and q	uantitative RT-PCR ·····10				
7. Plasm	id constructs ·····11				
8. FAM	188B antibody generation ·····11				
9. Weste	ern blot analysis ·····12				
10. Small	interfering RNA transfection12				
11. DNA	fragmentation assay ·····13				
12. Flow	cytometry for cell cycle and apoptosis ······13				



13.	Migration and invasion assay ·····13
14.	Proteomic analysis and profiling of interacting partners …14
15.	Immunocytochemistry ·····14
16.	Nuclear fractionation ·····15
17.	Luciferase assay ·····15
18.	Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay ······16
19.	p53 ubiquitination assay ·····17
20.	Colony forming unit assay and soft agar assay ······17
21.	Establishment of xenograft and tumor treatment in vivo with
	siFAM188B18
22.	Immunohistochemical staining ······19
23.	3D structure prediction ·····19
24.	Statistical analysis19
RI	ESULTS21
1.	FAM188B is evolutionarily conserved in vertebrates21
2.	FAM188B is confirmed genuine gene and elevated in tumor
	tissues ·····24
3.	High expression of FAM188B mRNA in gastric cancer shows
	significant differences in Lauren classification ······27
	 13. 14. 15. 16. 17. 18. 19. 20. 21. 22. 23. 24. RI 1. 2. 3.



4. Generation of FAM188B antibody3	1
5. Knockdown of FAM188B results in apoptotic cell death …3	3
6. Knockdown of FAM188B reduces migratory potential and	d
invasive property3	7
7. FAM188B is localized in the cytoplasm ······3	9
8. Treatment of chemotherapeutic agents is more effective in	n
FAM188B down-regulated cells ······4	2
9. FAM188B is related to resistance to chemotherapeutics …4	4
10. FAM188B expresses in other cancer cell lines and tissues ·5	0
11. FAM188B is highly expressed in colon cancer tissues5	2
12. FAM188B down-regulation leads to cell death in color	n
cancer cell lines ·····5	4
13. The identification of FAM188B-interacting partners6	0
14. FAM188B silencing activates p53 and its downstream	n
pathway ······6	2
15. Expectation of FAM188B three-dimensional protein	n
structure ······6	6
16. FAM188B regulates p53 stability via interaction with	h
USP76	8
17. FAM188B knockdown inhibits tumor growth in vivo7	2



IV. DISCUSSION ·····	79
V. CONCLUSION ·····	85
REFERENCES	86
ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN) ·····	95
PUBLICATION LIST	97



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Alignments of FAM188B protein homolog
sequences ·····22
Figure 2. Cladogram based on the sequence alignment of
16 species23
Figure 3. Validation of FAM188B mRNA expression in
normal and tumor tissues25
Figure 4. FAM188B mRNA expression analysis in early
gastric cancer and advanced gastric cancer
Figure 5. FAM188B epitope prediction and antibody
validation by Western blot ······32
Figure 6. FAM188B expression validation in gastric cancer
cell line AGS treated with siFAM188B ······35
Figure 7. Knockdown of FAM188B results in cell death ·36
Figure 8. Inhibitory effect of siFAM188B on migration and
invasion ability



Figure 9. Location of exogenous GFP tagged FAM188B in
НЕК29340
Figure 10. Localization of endogenous FAM188B in cell
lines ······41
Figure 11. Effects of anti-cancer drugs on cell survival of
AGS cells treated with siFAM188B ······43
Figure 12. FAM188B resists to chemotherapeutic agents 46
Figure 13. Confirmation of FAM188B mRNA and protein
expression level ······51
Figure 14. Analysis of FAM188B expression in 20 distinct
cancer cell types ······53
Figure 15. Effects of FAM188B knockdown on cell death in
НСТ-116
Figure 16. Confirmation of the cell death phenotype in
HT-29 and SW620 colon cancer cell lines treated with
siFAM188B58
Figure 17. Analysis of FAM188B-interacting proteins ····61



Figure 18. Knockdown of FAM188B activates the p53
downstream pathway ······63
Figure 19. Knockdown of FAM188B results in activation of
the p53 downstream pathway65
Figure 20. Prediction of FAM188B ternary structure ····67
Figure 21. USP7 interacts with FAM188B70
Figure 22. Knockdown of FAM188B regulates p53
deubiquitination71
Figure 23. FAM188B knockdown effects on cell
proliferation ······74
Figure 24. Knockdown of FAM188B inhibits cell
proliferation <i>in vivo</i> 76
Figure 25. A proposed model for regulation of p53 stability
by FAM188B and USP7 ······78



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Primer sequences for PCR reactions
Table 2. Clinicopathological information of 75 advanced
gastric cancer patients ·····26
Table 3. Analysis of FAM188B mRNA expression by
clinicopathological information28
Table 4. Relationship between FAM188B expression and
clinicopathological characteristics in gastric 107 cancer
patients ······48



ABSTRACT

Analyses of molecular and cellular mechanisms of hypothetical protein FAM188B function in gastrointestinal cancer

Eun-Seok Choi

Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Hyoung-Pyo Kim)

It has been previously reported that FAM188B has significant differential exon usage in cancers (NCBI GEO GSE30727), but the expression and function of FAM188B are not well characterized. Here, I explored the functions of FAM188B by a knockdown strategy, using siRNAs specific for FAM188B in gastric and colon cancer cell lines. *FAM188B* is a novel gene encoding a protein that is evolutionarily conserved among mammals. Its mRNA has been found to be highly expressed in most solid tumors, including gastric and colorectal cancer. FAM188B knockdown induced apoptosis in cancer cell lines, and simultaneous treatment of anticancer drugs and siFAM188B had a synergistic



effect on reducing cell viability in gastric cancer. To identify the underlying mechanism, siFAM188B was transfected into colon cancer cell lines. Interestingly, siFAM188B treatment induced the upregulation and activation of p53, and consequently increased the p53-regulated pro-apoptotic proteins PUMA and BAX. Proteomic analysis of FAM188B immunocomplexes revealed p53 and USP7 as putative FAM188B-interacting proteins. Deletion of the putative USP7-binding motif in FAM188B reduced the interaction of FAM188B with USP7. It is noteworthy that FAM188B knockdown resulted in a decrease in overall ubiquitination of p53 immunocomplexes, as well as p53 ubiquitination, because USP7 is involved in p53 deubiquitination and FAM188B has recently been proposed as a putative deubiquitinase. FAM188B knockdown inhibited both colony formation and anchorage-independent growth in vitro. In addition, FAM188B knockdown by siRNA reduced tumor growth in xenografted mice, with an increase in p53 expression. Taken together, our data suggest that FAM188B has a putative oncogenic function, controlling p53 stability to promote cell growth. Therefore, control of FAM188B could be a possible target to inhibit tumor growth.

Key words: FAM188B, p53, hypothetical protein, cancer, deubiquitinase USP7



Analyses of molecular and cellular mechanisms of hypothetical protein FAM188B function in gastrointestinal cancer

Eun-Seok Choi

Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Hyoung-Pyo Kim)

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Stomach cancer and colon cancer

Stomach cancer is the third leading cause of cancer death in both sexes worldwide (723,000 deaths, 8.8% of the total). In particular, the highest estimated mortality rates are in Eastern Asia (24 per 100,000 in men, 9.8 per 100,000 in women).¹ Thus, it is necessary to develop a therapeutic strategy to overcome the high mortality rates caused by stomach cancer. Stomach cancer is composed of heterogeneous cell populations that manifest malignancy by aberrantly regulating cell proliferation, differentiation, angiogenesis, migration, and metastasis,² and its carcinogenic process is complex.^{3,4}



Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most prevalent cancer worldwide and is a major contributor to cancer mortality.⁵ CRC is heterogeneous disease, biologically classified into three major groups according to their molecular characteristics. The first is the chromosomal instable group, which accumulates mutations in specific oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. The second class is the microsatellite instability (MSI) group, which leads to genetic hyper mutation, and the third is distinguished by CpG island methylation.⁶ In addition, large-scale genomic studies have been conducted to advance our understanding of CRC at a molecular level, including The Cancer Genome Atlas analysis of 276 colon cancer patients.⁷ Many critical pathways contribute to the development of CRC, including APC, WNT, RAS-MAPK, PI3K, TGF-B, TP53, and DNA mismatch repair.⁷ However, despite these efforts, there is still lack of detailed characterization for low to intermediate frequency mutations or novel candidates. Therefore, it is necessary to continue to search for novel genes related to carcinogenesis.

2. Hypothetical protein FAM188B

Substantial proportions of genes (59%) in the human genome are reported as 'hypothetical' and are annotated as being of 'unknown function'.⁸ Hypothetical proteins are predicted from nucleic acid sequences and their existence has not been experimentally proven. Another feature of the hypothetical protein is that it has low identity compared to known proteins.⁹ However, despite their



hypothetical status, which can be an obstacle to investigations of their expression patterns and potential functions in cellular pathways, such genes are often expressed to varying degrees in disease and are therefore biomedical relevant.¹⁰ Thus, excluding 'unknown' or 'hypothetical' genes from analyses of candidate targets removes the opportunity to explore unprecedented molecular mechanisms that may be involved in clinically significant pathological dysfunctions. Recently, a hypothetical protein, FAM63A, was characterized to interact with ubiquitin and identified as a new DUB family member, and the analysis of evolutionarily conservation among human genomes identified several homologues including FAM63B, FAM188A, and FAM188B. The comparison of protein sequences showed these proteins shared a conserved region, a catalytic domain for the hydrolysis of ubiquitin at the carboxyl terminal of proteins. They were named MINDY (motif interacting with Ub containing novel DUB family) lysine 48 deubiquitinase.¹¹

3. Apoptosis and cancer

Programmed cell death inhibits the development of cancer naturally through apoptosis of abnormal cells, but cancer develops when this mechanism is disrupted.¹² Typically, when chromosomal abnormality occurs, the expression of tumor suppressor P53 is increased, leading to apoptosis of the cells.¹³ Regulation of p53 is controlled by various post-translational modifications. The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) is the main pathway for controlling protein



integrity, and is central to the regulation of many cellular functions, notably including cell survival and death.^{14, 15} Ubiquitination is a remarkably complex, specific, three-enzyme (E1-E2-E3) cascade that utilizes two E1, ten E2, and hundreds of E3 ubiquitin ligases.¹⁶ Deubiquitinases (DUB, ubiquitin isopeptidase) are UPS components that catalyze removal of an ubiquitin moiety from poly-ubiquitin chains,¹⁴ the human genome encodes 98 DUB genes classified into 6 families.¹⁷ Thus, the dynamic and combinatorial interactions between ubiquitination and deubiquitination set the threshold for apoptotic signaling.¹⁸ For example, the E3 ubiquitin ligase MDM2 ubiquitinates the tumor suppressor p53, and DUBs, such as ubiquitin-specific proteases USP2a, USP7, USP10, USP22, and USP42, are involved in regulating the stability of p53 and MDM2 by removing ubiquitin moieties.^{14, 19-21} However, what determines whether p53 or MDM2 is the primary USP substrate is not known.^{18, 22}



II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Datasets and extraction of differentially expressed genes

The mRNA expression profiling for cancer cell lines was obtained from Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (CCLE) database (https://portals.broadinstitute.org/ccle).²³ Gene expression datasets for colorectal cancers (GSE20842²⁴ and GSE20916²⁵ were retrieved from NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus and TCGA Colorectal 2 (215 colorectal adenocarcinoma and 22 paired normal colorectal tissue samples were analyzed. This dataset is a combination of Colon Adenocarcinoma [COAD] and Rectum Adenocarcinoma [READ] data from the TCGA data portal and consists of Level 2 (processed) data. Corresponding DNA copy number data is available in TCGA Colorectal 2.)) These datasets were used for the analysis of the up-regulated genes of colorectal cancer in Oncomine (https://www.oncomine.org/).²⁶ Differentially expressed genes were extracted by selecting discrimination criteria for >2x of expression difference with p-value < 0.001 between normal tissues and colorectal adenocarcinoma. PANTHER Gene Ontology tool was used to classify the overlapping genes and I focused on the "unclassified" 155 genes which are most frequently classified and are not belonged to any three classification criteria (biological process, molecular function and cellular component).²⁷



2. Drug resistance test

Cells, plated in 6-well culture plates (8×10^4 cells/well), were transfected with 5 nM siFAM188B or NC siRNA using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX (Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, CA, USA). All drugs (etoposide and cisplatin) were treated at various ranges of concentrations ($0.5 \sim 4.0 \mu$ M and $2.5 \sim 40.0 \mu$ M, respectively) 24 hr after siRNA transfection. Cytotoxicity was measured at 48 hr and 72 hr after drug treatment by tetrazolium dye MTT 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide.

3. Short hairpin RNA (shRNA) treated stable cell lines

For lentivirus production, HEK293T cells were seeded at a density of 3.5×10^6 cells per 100 mm dish. Five plates for each constructs were prepared and incubate at 5% CO₂, 37°C incubator for 24 hr. The mixture of plasmids (FAM188B-targeting shRNA plasmids, pSPAX2, and pMD2.G) was transfected into the prepared cells next day. Supernatant of HEK293T cells was harvested after 48 hr and concentrated with Lenti-X concentrator (Clonetech) at 4°C for 16 hr. Concentrated viruses were infected into prepared HCT-116 cells in 6-well plates (3.0×10^5 cells/well) with Polybrene (Sigma-Aldrich). Media was replaced after 6 hr incubation to remove the remained viruses. shFAM188B infected cells were classified as GFP signal and collected by flow cytometry.

FAM188B-targeting shRNA sequences: shFAM188B#1 (5'-CTT TGG AAA TAC GGC TAA CAA-3') and shFAM188B#2 (5'-CAG ATA CTT TCT GGA



TCA CTT-3')

4. Analysis of the FAM188B sequence conservation

Amino acid sequence of *Larimichthys crocea*,²⁸ Nothobranchius kadleci, Nothobranchius rachovii, Aphyosemion striatum, Fundulus heteroclitus, Xenopus tropicalis,²⁹ Alligator mississippiensis,³⁰ Mus musculus,³¹ Bos taurus, Callithrix jacchus,³² Macaca fascicularis,³³ Macaca mulatta,³³ Pongo abelii, Pan troglodytes, and Homo sapiens³⁴ were obtained from GenBank. Sequences were aligned using Clustal Omega software³⁵ and draw the phylogram.

5. Cell culture and human tissue samples

The human cell lines used in these studies (HCT-116, SW620, HT-29, AGS, SNU-638, A549, U87, JIMT1, MDA-MB-231, HeLa, HEK293 and HDF) were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA, USA) or Korean Cell Line Bank (Seoul, Korea). All the cells were cultured with designated media (Corning, Manassas, VA, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Corning) and 1x Penicillin Streptomycin (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) at 37°C containing 5% CO₂.

Fresh human stomach tissue samples were obtained from patients undergoing surgery and were stored in RNA Later solution (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) for total RNA extraction or in liquid nitrogen for protein extraction. All patients provided informed consent prior to collection of tissues, and the



study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of National Cancer Center, Korea (NCCNCS13732).

6. Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)

Total RNA was extracted using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Waltham, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol and was purified using an RNeasy column with RNase-free DNaseI treatment (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). First-strand cDNA was synthesized from 1 μ g of total RNA using a Transcriptor cDNA Synthesis kit (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) and poly-d(T)18-21 primers.

Primers and probes for RT-PCR and qRT-PCR that spanned two consecutive exons were designed using Primer3 software (http://frodo.wi.mit.edu/primer3/). qRT-PCR reactions were performed using a LC480 real-time PCR machine (Roche). *FAM188B* targeting probe sequences: [FAM]-TGT TTG AAG GAG ATA GCA AAG CCG ACT GTG-[TAMRA]

Primer sequences are listed in Table 1.



Torget nome	Forward primer (5' – 3')	Annealing
larget name	Reverse primer (5' – 3')	temp. (°C)
FAM188B	GAG TCC TGG CAG CTG TCC AA	54
	GCA TCT GAA GGC TGC AGT CC	
ACTB	CAT CGA GCA CGG CAT CGT CA	58
	TAG CAC AGC CTG GAT AGC AAC	
BAX	TTG GGC TCA CAA GTT AGA GAC	60
promoter_p53RE	AAG	
	CCT GGA TCT AGC AAT ATA GCC	
	CAC	
PUMA	TCA GTG TGT GTG TCC GAC TGT C	60
promoter_p53RE	GGC AGG GCC TAG CCC A	

Table 1. Primer sequences for PCR reactions

7. Plasmid constructs

FAM188B was cloned into pGEM-T easy, pFLAG-CMV2, pAcGFP-C1, pAcGFP-N3, and pcDNA3.1 vector. Ubiquitin tagged with HA and p53 wild type constructs were cloned into pcDNA3.1 vector. pCl-neo-FLAG-HAUSP (FLAG-tagged USP7) was obtained from Addgene. *FAM188B*-targeting shRNA sequences were cloned into pHRST vector. pSPAX2, and pMD2.G were used for lentivirus propagation.

8. FAM188B antibody generation

For the detection of FAM188B, I generate polyclonal antiserum by immunization with hemocyanin-conjugated peptides with sequences predicted



to be antigenic as well as specific for the FAM188B protein C-terminus (722~738 amino acid residues: TISEDTDNDLVPPLELC - 17mer) (AbFrontier, Seoul, Korea).

9. Western blot analysis

Harvested cells were lysed using M-PER Mammalian Protein Extraction Reagent (Thermo Fisher scientific) with protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). Protein separation was performed by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes (Merck Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA). Membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk and incubated following antibodies: FAM188B (F374C), GAPDH, GFP (JL-8), p53 (DO-1), p53 (FL393), p-p53 (Ser15), p21, BAX, PUMA, USP7, α-tubulin, HA, ubiquitin, FLAG-M2, PARP, Caspase-3

10. Small interfering RNA transfection

FAM188B expression was silenced in HCT-116 colon cancer cells by transfecting with *FAM188B*-specific siFAM188B (Qiagen) targeting the sequence 5'-CTG ACC ATT GAC ACC ACC CAA-3', Allstar negative control (NC) siRNA (Qiagen) was used as a negative control. Cells, plated in 6-well culture plates (8×10^4 cells/well), were transfected with 5 nM siFAM188B or NC siRNA using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's protocol.



11. DNA fragmentation assay

Cells were seeded on coverslips and incubated at 37° C containing 5% CO₂ incubator for overnight. After 4% paraformaldehyde fixation step, nuclei were stained by Hoechst33342 (0.1 µg/ml) for 5 min and washed three times. The coverslips were mounted onto glass slides using mounting reagent and obtained image from fluorescence inverted microscope Axio Observer Z1 (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) at 400x magnification.

12. Flow cytometry for cell cycle and apoptosis

The cell cycle was analyzed in cells transfected with siFAM188B by flow cytometry after staining with propidium iodide (Sigma-Aldrich). Annexin V assays for the detection of apoptotic populations was carried out using a BD FITC annexin V apoptosis detection kit I (BD Pharmingen, San Jose, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

13. Migration and invasion assay

Migration and invasion assays were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells (1×10^5) in 0.2 ml of serum-free medium were seeded onto the top of each Transwell in 24-well cell culture plates or/and 0.75 ml of complete growth medium containing 1% FBS was added to each well in the lower chamber. For invasion assay, Matrigel coating is needed before



addition of cells in Transwell. Following incubation for 48 hr at 37°C, non-invasive cells were removed from the upper chamber, the cells attached to the lower chamber were fixed and stained with Diff-Quik solution (Sysmex) and then counted under a light microscope.

14. Proteomic analysis and profiling of interacting partners

Immunoprecipitation of FAM188B interacting proteins were performed using HEK293 cells (1.5×10^6 cells/plate) transfected with 10 µg of pFLAG-FAM188B plasmid and incubated for 48 hr, and processed with 40 ul of anti-FLAG-M2 agarose affinity gel (Sigma-Aldrich) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Analyses were performed using an LTQ XL linear ion trap mass spectrometer (MS) system (Thermo Fisher Scientific). All MS/MS samples were analyzed using Proteome Discover software (version v.1.4; Thermo Fisher Scientific), set up to search the Uniprot_sprot database and IPI human database.

15. Immunocytochemistry

Cells were seeded on circular cover slip and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 15 min at room temperature (RT). After fixation step, wash two times with ice cold $1 \times$ PBS buffer and permeabilized in 1x PBS containing 0.25% Triton X-100 for 10 min at RT. The samples were blocked with 1% BSA in PBST buffer for 30 min and incubated primary antibody in humidified chamber



for 1 hr at RT. Dye-conjugated secondary antibodies were incubated for 1 hr at RT and nucleus was stained with Hoechst33342 (0.1 μ g/ml) for 5 min. The coverslips were mounted onto glass slides using mounting reagent and images were captured using confocal microscope (Zeiss 510 Meta, Carl Zeiss).

16. Nuclear fractionation

Cells were transfected with siRNAs (NC and siFAM188B) and harvested at 24 hr and 48 hr. After washing the cell pellet with 1x PBS solution, harvested cells were lysed with 100 μ l of Buffer A (10 mM HEPES, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM KCl, 0.5 mM DTT, 0.05% Igepal, pH7.9) for 10 min on ice. Supernatant was the cytoplasmic fraction and it was moved to new 1.5 ml tube. The pellet (3,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C) was suspended with 75.2 μ l of Buffer B (5 mM HEPES, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM DTT, 26% glycerol (v/v), pH7.9) and 4.8 μ l of 5 M NaCl. Homogenized the pellet with micro-pestle and leave it on ice for 30 min. Supernatant was aliquoted after additional centrifugation (24,000 g for 20 min at 4°C).

17. Luciferase assay

Dual luciferase assays were performed according to the manufacturer's protocol (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Briefly, HCT-116 cells were transfected with NC siRNA or siFAM188B at a final concentration of 5 nM together with pGL2-p21-luc (Addgene, Cambridge, MA, USA) and



pGL4.70hRluc (Promega) plasmids. After 24 and 48 hr, cells were harvested, washed twice with cold 1x phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and lysed using passive lysis buffer. Lysates were added to LARII solution layered on the bottom of a 96-well plate, and firefly luciferase activity was measured. A second measurement of Renilla luciferase activity was then performed by adding Stop&Go solution. All measurements were carried out using a Victor3 reader (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA).

18. Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay

ChIP assays were performed using HCT-116 cells transfected with NC siRNA or siFAM188B at a final concentration of 5 nM and incubated for 48 hr. Cells were fixed in 1x PBS and 1% formaldehyde at 37°C for 10 min and stopped by adding glycine at a final concentration of 0.125 M. Fixed cells lysed with Igepal CA630 (Sigma-Aldrich) containing lysis buffer and centrifuged at 2,500 g for 5 min to collect nuclei. Collected nuclei were lysed and sonicated for 7.5 min (0.5 min on, 1 min off cycles) using a Bioruptor sonicator (Diagenode, Denville, NJ, USA). Fragmented genomic DNA was subsequently immunoprecipitated using an anti-p53 antibody (DO-1) with protein A/G agarose beads (Santa cruz Biotechnology). Immunoprecipitated DNA was purified by phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol extraction. Amplification of *BAX* and *PUMA* genes was carried out using SYBR green master mix with p53-RE primers using an LC480 real-time PCR machine (Roche).



Amplification signals from immunoprecipitations were normalized to input control DNA.

19. p**53** ubiquitination assay

HCT-116 cells were seeded 8.0×10^4 cells per well in 6-well plate and transfected with NC siRNA or siFAM188B. 100 µM of MG132 treated to siRNA-treated cells for 4 hr before harvest. Pellets were lysed with M-PER buffer (Thermo Scientific) with proteinase inhibitor (Roche) on ice for 1 hr. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with anti-p53 (DO-1) or anti-HA antibodies and immunoblotted with anti-HA or anti-p53 (DO-1) antibody, respectively. Samples were loaded 1 mg for IP lanes and 20 µg for whole cell lysate lanes.

20. Colony forming unit assay and soft agar assay

HCT-116 shRNA stable cells were plated at 1×10^3 cells/plate in a 6-well culture plate. Doxycycline treatment was used for induction of shFAM188B. On the seventh day after the shFAM188B induction, colonies were stained with crystal violet (Sigma) and images of visible colonies were obtained by fluorescence inverted microscope Axio Observer Z1.

HCT-116 cells (8.0×10^4 cells/well) were treated with NC siRNA or siFAM188B and incubated at 37°C 5% CO₂ containing incubator for 16 hr. HCT-116 cells were suspended in McCoy's 5A containing 0.35% low melting



agarose and plated onto solidified 0.6% agarose containing McCoy's 5A in six-well culture plates at a density of 5×10^3 cells per well. After incubating for 3 wk at 37°C in the 5% CO₂ incubator, the number of stained colonies was counted, and images were obtained. Three independent experiments were carried out for each assay.

21. Establishment of xenograft and tumor treatment *in vivo* with siFAM188B

Single-cell suspension of colon cancer cell line HCT-116 (2.0×10^6 cells) in 100ul of 1xPBS was subcutaneously injected in 6 wk old male BALB/c nude mice (CAnN.Cg-Foxn1nu/CrljOri, Orient Bio, Korea). When the tumor size reached 30mm³, Allstars negative control (Qiagen) or FAM188B (Qiagen) siRNA were injected into tumor *via* electroporation according to the manufacturer's instructions using NEPA21 Super Electroporator TypeII (Nepa Gene Co., Chiba, Japan). Electroporation was repeated every 7 days and monitored the tumor size twice a week for up to 3 wk. Each tumor volume was calculated by the modified ellipsoidal formula (Length x Width x Width) / 2. Length indicates the longest dimension of the tumor and width means shorter dimension, parallel to the mouse body. The experiment procedure and protocol were approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee in National Cancer Center of Korea (NCC-16-231).



22. Immunohistochemical staining

Tumor tissues were fixed with 10% neutral buffered formalin. Formaldehyde-fixed specimens were paraffin-embedded and cut to a thickness of 3 μ m. Sections were dried at 56°C for 1hr, and immunohistochemical staining was performed with Discovery XT (Ventana Medical Systems, Tucson, AZ, USA) as follows: sections were deparaffinized, rehydrated with EZ prep (Ventana Medical Systems), and washed with reaction buffer (Ventana Medical Systems). The antigens retrieved with heat treatment were in Tris-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) pH 8.0 buffer (CC1, Ventana Medical Systems) at 90°C for 30 min for anti-FAM188B antibody (Atlas Antibodies AB, Stockholm, Sweden) and p53 (FL353). Parallel sections incubated with normal IgGs (SantaCruz) instead of primary antibodies were used as negative controls.

23. 3D structure prediction

FAM188B amino acid sequence was predicted and converted to PDB files at Phyre2 server (<u>http://www.sbg.bio.ic.ac.uk/~phyre2/html/page.cgi?id=index</u>). The predicted FAM188B 3D model was visualized by PyMOL ver.1.7 program.

24. Statistical analysis

The statistical significance of differences between groups was determined using Student's *t*-test. ANOVA was used to analyze the clinicopathological



information in Prism software. Cox proportional hazard model was used to evaluate the effect of patients' characteristics on disease free survival and overall survival. The survival curves were estimated using Kaplan-Meire method, and the difference in survival curves was tested using the log-rank test. *P*-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.



III. RESULTS

1. FAM188B is evolutionarily conserved in vertebrates

In the previous study, FAM188B was identified as a gene with significant differential exon usage between gastric cancer tissues and paired adjacent normal tissues in 30 gastric cancer patients based on comparisons of transcriptomes using an Affymetrix Exon 1.0ST microarray (NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus GSE30727).³⁶ However, FAM188B is annotated as 'a hypothetical protein' for which the transcript is the only supporting evidence for functionality in public databases. To characterize the function of FAM188B, FAM188B homolog sequences were searched in ncbi website (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/protein) and aligned 16 FAM188B sequences from fish to human using EBI Clustal Omega.³⁵ Of the 16 species, all of them have highly conserved FAM188B catalytic residue in DUF4205 which is recently classified probable ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase domain (Figure 1). Human is the most closely to primates such as P. troglodytes (chimpanzee), P. abelii (orangutan), M. mulatta (rhesus macaque) and M. fascicularis (crab-eating macaque) in the cladogram (Figure 2). Therefore, this result suggested that FAM188B would be vital gene in vertebrates and evolutionarily conserved.


L.orocea	I PNV ADLDVSEMV LDDVDDDDDLQELSKVAFQKT I TEHSFAGR PMDQHTAME LKAVLLQSSL NOFSVEWRINQ OFTFSETHDL RVG I VQKKQ GPOQVLAS I QAFVL	416
F.heteroolitus	-PSAHELNINSMIVLDD I DDG-EDLPEVSFOR AVSNIFNFPGCPMDQHTAAELKTVLLQSSLSSFSAEIWINQ OFTFSDTHDLRVG I VQKK3QPCGVLAS I QAFFL	395
N.kadleci	-SNA SOLKVSEMVLDD I DODODDVQEVSLQR NVSQFHYSQC QMDHISALE LKINLLLASNL INSESSEWINQ QFTFSETHDL RVG I VQFK3 QPC9VLAS I QAFVL	401
N.rachovii	-SNASDLKVSEM/LDD1DDD-DDVQEVSLQRN/VSQFHYSQCQMDHISALELKNLLLASNLNSFSSEWMVQQFTFSETCDLRYQ1VQRKQQPCQVLAS1QAFVL	400
A.striatum	-PNT SOLININSEMV LOD I DDDDLQEVSLQR NVSEFHYSGR OMDHHTALELQKLLLASSL NOFSLEWINQ GF I FSETHDL RYG I VQRKQ GPOQVLAS I QAFVL	399
X.tropicalis	-FHRERNDKEDLKLDDVEDCLVTEEIRNIPTALPGNLKQIEGKPIDLAQAVEIKKILFGSSFCCFSDEWKIQSFTFNNNQPLRVGFIQKKGGPCGVLAAVQG	458
A.mississippiensis	I SNK ODLVKDALE LVDVEDEAAV GEVFK I PDHS TLCNILQVDSK AND I SLAKE I KINLLFGSSL CCFSEEVK I Q SFTFINI I POLKYG I VOKKO GPCOVLAAV QA	478
T.chinensis	ESDNGOHELGALRLEDVEDEL I REEVTLGPGP-SVRKLOVTSOPIDLSVAKE I KTLLFGSSLOCFNEEWKLOSFSFNDTASLKYGI VONKAGOSDVSOGPFOWVLNHNGGDTAQI WOVPV	629
M.musculus	-SOR TODKPDALQLEDVEDEL I KED I VLFPPP-SMLKLQTVSKP I DLSLAKE I KTLLFGSTF CCFSEEVKLQNFSFND I ASLKYGI VQNKGGPOGVLAAV QG	451
B. taurus	VSNKLEGOLDVLQLEDVEDELVREETILSPVS-SVLKLQVVSKPTDLSVAKDTKTTLFGSSFCCFSDEVKLQSFSFNDSVSLKYGTVQNKGGPCGVLAAVQG	471
C.jaochus	TSDK/DBELGALOLEDVEDELIREEVILSPVP-SVLKLQTASKPIDLSVAKEIKTLLFGSTFCCFNEEVKLQSFSFSNIASLKYGIVQNKGGPCGVLAAVQG	485
M.fascicularis	TSOK VODELGALO LEDVEDEL I REEV I LSPVP-S VLKLOTASK PI DLSVAKE I KTLLFGSSF CCFNEEVIKLO SFSFSNTASLKYGI VONKO GPOGVLAAV 00	464
M.mulatta	TSDK VDDELGALQLEDVEDEL I REEV I LSPVP-S VLKLQTASK PIDLSVAKE I KTLLFGSSF COFNEEWKLQSFSFSNTASL KYGI VQNKGGPCGVLAAV QG	464
H.sapiens	PSDKVDGELGALRLEDVEDELIREEVILSPVP-SVLKLQTASKPIDLSVAKEIKTLLFGSSFOCFNEEVIKLQSFSFSVTASLKYGIVQNKGGPOGVLAAVQG	464
P.troglodytes	PSDK VDGELGALR LEDVEDEL I REEV I LSPVP-S VLKLQTASK PIDLSVAKE I KTLLFGSSF CCFNEEWKLQSFSFSNTASL KYGI VQNKGGPCGVLAAV QG	484
P.abelii	LSDKADGELGTLRLEDVEDEL I REEV I LSPVP-S VLKLOTASKP I DLSVAKE I KTLLFGSSF CCFNEEVIKLOSFSFSNTASLKYG I VONKOGPCGVLAAV 00	464
	: * *::* :: : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	
L.orocea		489
F.heteroolitus		468
N.kadleci		474
N.rachovii	TISCHHROQAILERIM	473
A.striatum	KILL FENTDNSINNLORLRPSNTTRROCL VLALAEVLWK AGEKKOATVA VVSGPSHFTTSGHHRCOAVLEKWT	472
X.tropicalis	CVLKNLLF-G	528
A.mississippiensis		551
T.chinensis	GFWQLSKAASYKNSOLKE IAKLTMLGKRGRODIK PTARIYKWTCKGOORRLQPSDVHRTRCLALAIADIWIRAGGRKKAVVALCPGVVTLRKPLSLAASSPRHVSNPEALEGSPMODQLL	749
M.musculus		528
B.taurus		545
C.jaoohus	CVLQKLLFEGDSKADCARGLQPSDAHRTRCLTLALADIWIRAGGRERAVVALSSRTQQFSPAGKYKADGVLETLT	540
M.fascicularis		539
M.mulatta		539
H.sapiens	CVLGKLLFEGDSKADCAQGLQPSDAHRTRCLVLALADIWIRAGGRERAVVALASRTQQFSPTGKYKADGVLETLT	539
P.troglodytes		539
P.abelii		539
	14 1 Alba Analainatan 1,4 11 1 1 1,1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Lococea	CETVONUNDI OLI LEONIECEESKIVI OCULUTUSAVI SESUKVEEDNOVETTTI. ISAHSVCTOELVINULLOKAVSIVEDNONOI DSSINSIVUTULKSIK GOODIGU SI EEHVULOKVA	809
E beteros Litus	OSY/DITION OVER SHE DOVET OT BOTT TO THE AVESSIVE VIENDED INT THE LARBOUT OF WILL CORAVISING DUDING DISABANTTE FOR EXPONENT I	588
N kadleoi	ESVOSEKOLOF I VEQUEDEES (KLOCULA I SA LL SBEEK VBEDNOVET TU LAHAVCTOF LINI LL CREAVSIVEDNO FL DSONOWT LL KOW CPCEVOLSI. EFENNI CKVO	594
N rachovii	ESV/05EK0LOF LVC0LEDE55(KLOCVLLA IS ALL SB LEK VBEDWDVPTTTL I GAHAVCTCEL IN LL C@BAVSIVEDND IEL DS009IN/TL K0VK DPCEVGLS EEHVUCKVG	593
A striatum	E EVANUEL DE LE COLECCETE ANUELTISSE EVANUELTI LA HAVATTE LA HAVATTE VILLE CARAVISIVENUEL EN SAMUNT LA VADESVELSE EFENILAVA	592
X tropicalia	V KLEKVEDI MAEVOOH SOEEL GEGOTTI TI SVALSBARL VOKOEDVSTVOLI GAHSVCTOEL VILLI SOBAVSIVENO VED SOMBILITI LIBRIA HETDI GELSI, EEHVINCOVA	848
A mississippiensis	I HT I KVEDI T JE U GKNI HOFET GEORGU LI TI, SVU SBSTHI VBSDEDVATNELIGI HAVCTOFI VNI U VTGKAVSNVENIV JELDSGNGNI T LI KGI SGBSDIGI LSI FEHVDVCOVG	871
Tobinensis	HTV/TCYDELVAELODS/VODE64/02/2011 TLSALLSBSTELVB0DE0//21/HLIGAH0/CT0ELVALLT0KA//SM/END/V/ELDS0N9/UTLLB0L4ABSD.LGELSLEEH/0//0/W	889
M. musculus	LYSLTSSEDLVTE (QQSVHOFEA GP/GC)LLTLSA ILSRSLEL VRODEDVPT SHLI GAHGYC TOELVNLLLT GRAVSN/FND VVELDSGDGNI TLLBG (EARSD (GFLSL FEHVIN/COVG	646
B. taurus	LHSL TOYEELVTELQQS IHOFEA GPYRGVILT I.SAIL SRSTEL VRODEDVPT SHI I GAHGYC TOELVNLLL TGKAVSNVEND VVELDSGNGDVTLLKG I STRSD I GELSL FEHVINCOVG	665
C. i aochus	LVSLACYEDLVTFLQQSIHOFEV GPYGCILLTLSA ILSRSTEL IRODFDVPTSHLIGAHGYCTGELVNLLLT GKAVSIVFNDIWVELDSGDGNI TLLRG I A ARSD I GFLSL FEHVIVCQVG	660
M fascicularis	HSI ACYEDI VTEL 005 I BOEEV (92 YOCH LITI SALL SESTEL I BODEDVETSHI I BAHBYCTOEL VIII LITIKAVSIWEND VVEL DSBOBNI TI LIBRI AABSDI GELSI EEHVIWCOW	859
M.mulatta	LHSL ACYEDLVTFLOQS I BOFEV OPVOCILLTLS A I LSBSTEL I BODEDVETSHLI BAHGYC TOELVULLLT GKAVSIVVEND VVELDSGDGNI TLLBG I AABSDI OFLSL FEHVIV/COVG	659
H.sapiens	LHSL TCYEDLVTFLQQS IHOFEVQPYQC ILLTLSA ILSRSTEL IRODFDVPT SHLIQAHGYCTQELVNLLLT GKAVSIVFND VVELDSQDQN I TLLRQ I AARSD I GFLSL FEHVINIQUYQ	659
P. troglodytes	LHSL TCYEDLVTFLQQS IHOFEV GPYGCILLTLSA ILSRSTEL IRODFDVPT SHLIGAHGYCTGELVNLLLT (KAVSNVFND VVELDSGDGNI TLLRG I AARSDVGFLSL FEHVINVCQVG	659
P.abelii	LHSL TCYGOLVTFLQQS IHOFEV GPHQC I LLTLS A I LSRSTEL I RODFDVPT SHL I GAHGYC TOELVNLLLT (KAVSIN/FND VVELDSGDGN I TLLRG I AARSD I GFLSL FEHVIN/CQVG	659
L.orocea	AVLK TPCYP I WVV CSESHFSVLF GLORELLSNOD KOLEFDLYY YDGLANOGEE I RLTVSVGK SALSCOESDT DL I PPLEHC I RTRWKDA	709
F.heteroolitus	DYLKSPSYPWWV/CSESHFSVLFGLERELLVSPDQDPQFDLYYYDGLANQGEE IRLTVSVGKSTQTCEEVDADL I PPLELC I RTRIMDA	688
N.kadleci	AYLKSPSYPIWVVCSESHFSVLFGLORELLTNODDGLEFDLYFYDGLANOGEEIRLTISVGKSAKSSQOVDADLTPPLELCIOTRWKDASVWWGTEPLL	694
N.rachovii	AYLKSPSYP1WVVCSESHFSVLFGLQRELLTNQDDGLEFDLYFYDGLANQGEEIRLT1SVGKSAKSSQ0VDADLTPPLELC1QTRIMDASVIWINGTEPLL	693
A.striatum	AHLK.SPSYP1WVVCSESHFSVLFGLQRELLTNQEDGLEFDLYFYDGLANQQEEIRLTISVGKSAKSSREVDADLIPPLELCIQTRWKDASVWNDTEPLL	692
X.tropicalis	SYLK TPREP I W/ I CSESHESVLE CVRRELMSDWKMERREDLYY YDGLANOODE I RLTVDTAA T-Y I EEQENDLTPPLEHC I RTKMKGAV I DWMGTEP I L	748
A.mississippiensis	CYLK TFKYP I WLV CSESHFSVLF CLOKOLLGOWRTERLFDLYY YDGLANGEE E I RLTVDTTON-YTEDKENDL I PPLEHC I RTKIWGAV I DWNGAEP I LV	769
T.ohinensis	CFLKTPRFP IW/VCSESHFS/LF SLRPELLCOWRTERLFDLYY YDGLANOGE QIRLT IDTTQT IPE/KEDDL I PPLELCI RTWARTPV/LRVEGG//BELEWLRTHPV I SWDR//SPVD/	987
M.musculus	CFLKTPRFP1W/VCSESHFS1LF5LQPELLCOWRSERLFDLYYYDGLANOQEE1RLTVDTTKT-APADSCSDLVPPLELC1RTK/W6ASV/WW6SDP1LS	744
B.taurus	CFLKTPRFP I W/V/CSESHFS/LF SQQLELLRDWRAERLFDLYY YDGLANOGE QI RLTVDTTQ TVPEDRDNGLVPPLELCNRTK/IIKGAS/WWNGSEP I LS	763
C.jaoohus	CFLK TPRFP I W/V CSESHFS I LF SLOPBILLRDWR TERLFDL YY YDGLANOOE O I RLT I DTTO T-VSEDTDNDL VPPLELC I RTKWKGAS WWW.GSDP I L	758
M.fascicularis	CFLK TPRFP I W/V CSESHFSVLF SLOPELLRDWRTERLFDLYY YDGLANQQE Q I RLT I DTTQ T- I SDDTDNDLVPPLELC I RTKIKGAS WWNGSDP I L	757
M.mulatta	CFLKTPRFP1W/V/CSESHFSVLFSLQP9LLRDWRTERLFDLYYYDGLANOQEQ1RLT1DTTQTISODTDNDLVPPLELC1RTK/WK8ASVWW/850P1LSVWW/850P1L	757
H.sapiens	CFLKTPRFP1W/VCSESHFS1LFSLQPGLLRDWRTERLFDLYYYDGLANQQQ1RLT1DTTQTISEDTDNDLVPPLELC1RTKWK8ASVWW9SDP1LS	757
P.troglodytes	CFLKTPRFP1WVVCSESHFS1LF5LQP9LLRDWRTERLFDLYYYDGLANOQEQ1RLT1DTTQTISEDTDNDLVPPLELC1RTKWKGASVWWGSDP1LSVWWGSDP1L	757
P.abelii	CFLKTPRFP1WVVCSESHFS1LF5LQP9LLRDWRTERLFDLYYYDGLANQQCQ1RLT1DTTQTISEDTDNDLVPPLELC1RTKWKGASVWWGSDP1LSVWWGSDP1L	757
	and the second	

Figure 1. Alignments of FAM188B protein homolog sequences. Conserved residues are indicated with asterisks (completely conserved) or dots (mostly conserved).





Figure 2. Cladogram based on the sequence alignment of 16 species.



2. FAM188B is confirmed genuine gene and elevated in tumor tissues

I previously investigated transcript variants in gastric cancer and found *FAM188B* among the numerous different exon usage genes.³⁶ To identify the existence of FAM188B, quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) was performed because this gene has been reported as hypothetical protein and not characterized in any species. *FAM188B* mRNA was detected in all 20 normal tissues and the mRNA expression was especially more elevated in lung, thyroid, trachea, and uterus (Figure 3A). Since FAM188B was picked from the differential gene expression analysis in gastric cancer, I carried out absolute qRT-PCR using 75 gastric cancer patient tissues (Table 2). Most of the patients showed that the fold change of *FAM188B* mRNA was greater than base line (68 out of 75 patients) (Figure 3B). Mean of *FAM188B* mRNA expression in tumor tissues also significantly increased compared to normal tissues (Figure 3C). Herein, FAM188B was confirmed genuine gene and it significantly increased in tumor tissues.





Figure 3. Validation of *FAM188B* mRNA expression in normal mucosa and gastric cancer tissues. (A) The mRNA expression was absolutely quantitated using qRT-PCR. Error bar indicates S.D. (B) Distribution of *FAM188B* mRNA fold change data was arranged in descending order. (C) The expression of *FAM188B* was absolutely measured by qRT-PCR. Red line indicates mean and error bar indicates S.D. All expriments were performed triplicate. (n=75)



			No. of patients
Number of patients	Total		75
	Male		53
	Female		22
Age at diagnosis (yr)	Range		21-86
	Mean \pm SD		60.7±13.3
	The second se	T 1	0
Disease stage [†]	Tumor stage	Tla	0
		TIb	1
		12	16
		T3	29
		T4a	22
		T4b	7
	Node stage	N0	26
		N1	11
		N2	13
		N3a	17
		N3b	8
	Metastasis stage	M0	63
		M1	12
_			
Lauren type	Intestinal		33
	Diffuse		25
	Mixed		7
	Intermediate		8
	Not annotated		2
Bormann type	Type I (protruded	type)	1
Dormann type	Type II (ulcerative	type)	21
	Type II (ulceroint	filtrated type)	21 16
	Type III (diffuse t	(maieu type)	40
	Not determined	ype)	0
	not determined		1

Table 2. Clinicopathological information of 75 gastric cancer patients

†Stage classification follows the TNM classification system by Union for International Cancer Control (UICC)



3. High expression of *FAM188B* mRNA in gastric cancer shows significant differences in Lauren classification

To further analyze the mRNA expression of FAM188B, I used clinicopathological classification to compare them, such as Lauren classification, Histology, Bormann type, and stages (pT stage, pN stage, final stage) (Table 3). Among the classification methods, FAM188B mRNA expression showed significant differences in Lauren classification. Two main types of Lauren classification (intestinal and diffuse type) were analyzed and mRNA expression of FAM188B was significantly increased in Intestinal type. To examine whether FAM188B was used as a marker to identify stages, I plotted the FAM188B expression level of two classified stages (early gastric cancer and advanced gastric cancer) (Figure 4). FAM188B mRNA level was higher in the tumor tissues of advanced gastric cancer (stage IIa ~ IV) compared to that of early gastric cancer. FAM188B expression was increased in the tumors but statistically significant only in IIb, IIIa and IV stages. In summary, FAM188B may be used as a possible marker of advanced gastric cancers (AGC) and it would be involved in the progression from early gastric cancer to advanced gastric cancer.



	Class	Mean	<i>p</i> -value	Significance
Lauren	Intestinal	7.18542	0.0079	**
classification	Diffuse	2.43012		
	Mixed	2.29971		
	Indeterminate	20.17803		
Histology	Well diff.	6.48604	0.7132	N.S.
	Moderate diff.	4.71920		
	Poorly diff.	10.09003		
	Signet ring	3.04266		
	Mucinous	2.72247		
	Not annotated	10.97892		
Bormann type	Bormann 1	3.73687	0.8451	N.S.
	Bormann 2	10.24630		
	Bormann 3	6.11695		
	Bormann 4	5.53745		
	Not identified	1.76495		
pT stage	T1b	1.76495	0.2576	N.S.
	T2	3.89326		
	T3	11.62397		
	T4a	3.93559		
	T4b	2.90383		
pN stage	N0	8.26654	0.3374	N.S.
~ U	N1	4.57596		
	N2	13.09295		
	N3a	3.99201		
	N3b	1.55150		

 Table 3. Analysis of FAM188B mRNA expression by clinicopathological information



final stage	Ia	1.76495	0.643	N.S.
	Ib	3.61544		
	IIa	10.21396		
	IIb	7.56976		
	IIIa	13.12077		
	IIIb	4.44903		
	IIIc	2.64522		
	IV	3.68534		

[†] Well diff: well differentiation, Moderate diff: moderate differentiation, Poorly
diff: poorly differentiation, p: pathologic stage, T: characteristics of the tumor,
N: presence of any lymph nodes metastases, N.S.: Not significant

Statistical significance was calculated by ANOVA in GraphPad Prism5 program. (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001)





Figure 4. *FAM188B* mRNA expression analysis in early gastric cancer and advanced gastric cancer. Absolutely quantitative RT-PCR results were analyzed by stage classification. Mean \pm S.E.M. Stage classification follows the TNM classification system by Union for International Cancer Control (UICC), (Early gastric cancer (EGC): stage Ia and Ib (*n*=10), Advanced gastric cancer (AGC): Stage IIa, IIb, IIIa, IIIb, IIIc, IV (*n*=65)). **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, *****p*<0.001



4. Generation of FAM188B antibody

After verification of the mRNA expression of FAM188B in tissues, I tried to quantify the FAM188B protein expression. However, among the commercially available antibodies, there were no antibodies that could detect the protein by Western blot. Therefore, the epitope of FAM188B was predicted and injected it into the rabbit to generate our own anti-FAM188B antibody (Figure 5A). Of the several candidates, only the FAM188B (F374C) antibody targeting C-terminus of the protein detected a properly sized FAM188B protein. To confirm that the antibody works properly, GFP-tagged FAM188B constructs were transfected into HEK293 cells and detected by FAM188B (F374C) antibody (Figure 5B). FAM188B N-terminus Only the tagged GFP constructs (pAcGFP-C1-FAM188B) was detected by GFP (JL-8) antibody. According to this result, I compared the membrane detected with GFP antibody and the membrane detected with FAM188B (F374C) antibody. The size shifted protein in a lane of pAcGFP-C1-FAM188B except endogenous FAM188B was confirmed and they were in the same position at the membranes (Figure 5B). Taken together, FAM188B (F374C) antibody was appropriately established since same size proteins were found in these two membranes.





Figure 5. FAM188B epitope prediction and antibody validation by Western blot. (A) Antigenicity prediction of FAM188B. Red circles indicate selected peptides for epitope. (B) HEK293 transfected with GFP-tagged FAM188B and AcGFP-tagged FAM188B were separated by SDS-PAGE and detected by FAM188B, FLAG-M2 and GFP antibodies.



5. Knockdown of FAM188B results in apoptotic cell death

To identify the function of FAM188B, *FAM188B*-targeting siRNA was treated in AGS to knockdown the expression. I used two siRNAs targeting FAM188B which target the exon 16 to 17 (siFAM188B) and exon 5 (siFAM188B-2) due to avoid off-target effect of siRNA (Figure 6A). I carried out qRT-PCR to confirm the mRNA expression in AGS treated with siFAM188B from 24 hr to 96 hr after siRNA treatment. Treatment of siRNA resulted in a significant decrease in the mRNA expression of FAM188B at all time points. The mRNAs in siFAM188B treatment only expressed 30% of NC siRNA (Figure 6B). Next, I performed Western blot analysis to investigate whether protein expression was decreased as decrement of mRNA expression. Compared to NC siRNA, siFAM188B treatment dramatically reduced the expression of FAM188B from the 24 hr time point (Figure 6C). Therefore, siFAM188B appropriately knocked down *FAM188B* mRNA and subsequently reduced protein expression.

As a result of siFAM188B treatment, slow proliferation and suspended dead cells in AGS were observed (Figure 7A). I hypothesized that FAM188B relates to cell survival. To test this hypothesis, cell cycle analysis and nuclei staining assay with siFAM188B were performed. I observed increment of G0/G1 phase and nuclei fragmentation in siFAM188B treated condition, suggesting that FAM188B regulates the cell survival (Figures 7B and 7C). In order to elucidate the mechanism of cell death, apoptosis was measured by Annexin V assay.



Since Annexin V binds to the endothelium phosphatidylserine (PS) and propidium iodide (PI) was able to penetrate the nucleus through perforated membranes during apoptosis, cells were stained with Annexin V and PI. Annexin V/PI stained cells were increased in FAM188B knocked down cells (31.47%) compared to negative control (11.53%) (Figure 7D). Taken together, siFAM188B affects reduction of mRNA and protein expression level and results in apoptotic cell death, suggesting that FAM188B regulates cell survival.





Figure 6. FAM188B expression validation in gastric cancer cell line AGS treated with siFAM188B. (A) Schematic view of FAM188B and siFAM188B targeting regions. (B) mRNA expression was absolutely quantitated by qRT-PCR. All experiments were performed triplicate. Error bar indicates S.D. (C) Cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and detected by anti-FAM188B and anti-ACTB antibodies.





Figure 7. Knockdown of *FAM188B* results in cell death. (A) Phenotype of AGS treated with or without siFAM188B. (B) Cells were processed for cell cycle analysis by flow cytometry (dead cell population: sub G0/G1 is indicated in %). (C) DNA stained by Hoechst33342 with or without siFAM188B. White arrow heads indicate fragmented nuclei. Scale bar = $20 \mu m$. (D) Cells were transfected with siFAM188B and stained with Annexin V/PI. The stained cells were analyzed by flow cytometry for apoptosis. UR and LR indicates apoptotic cells.



6. Knockdown of FAM188B reduces migratory potential and invasive property

Most of the causes of death in patients with solid tumors are metastatic relapses. The initial phenotype of metastasis is invasiveness of the cell.³⁷ Therefore, it is important to know the acquirement of invasiveness in cancer cell. To examine whether FAM188B has migratory potential and/or invasive property, I performed migration and invasion assays *in vitro*. Migrated cells through the pore were counted and the results were plotted. The migratory potential was significantly decreased in AGS treated with siFAM188B-1 and -2 but there was no difference between siFAM188B treatments (Figure 8A). Knockdown of FAM188B also significantly inhibited invasive property in AGS cells but there was a significant difference between siFAM188B treatments (Figure 8B). Taken together, FAM188B regulates migration and is involved to metastatic relapse.





Figure 8. Inhibitory effect of siFAM188B on migration and invasion ability. (A) Cells were treated with or without siFAM188B and counted the number of migrated cells. (B) Cells were treated with or without siFAM188B and counted the number of invaded cells. N.S.: not significant, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001



7. FAM188B is localized in the cytoplasm

Previous results indicate that FAM188B is increased in tumor tissues and cell death in knockdown. To apply the findings to therapy, I have to know where FAM188B is expressed in the cell. Therefore, GFP-tagged FAM188B was transfected into HEK293 cells and images were obtained from fluorescence inverted microscope (Figure 9). According to the images, FAM188B was localized in cytoplasm. To confirm whether cytoplasmic localization of FAM188B is specific to HEK293 or exogenous protein, I performed immunocytochemistry on endogenous FAM188B by anti-FAM188B (F374C) antibody. Three gastric cancer cells (AGS, SNU-638, and MKN-28), a colon cancer cell HCT-116, and a non-cancerous cell HEK293 were used. FAM188B was located in the cytoplasm in the all tested cells (Figure 10). Therefore, I identified FAM188B localized in cytoplasm in several cells and I would have to use the chemicals to treat the tumor because of the limitation of access.





Scale bar = 10 µm

Figure 9. Location of exogenous GFP tagged FAM188B in HEK293. GFP-tagged FAM188B was transfected in HEK293 cells and image was obtained from fluorescence inverted microscope. Hoechst33342 was used as DNA staining reagent. Scale bar = $10 \mu m$





Figure 10. Localization of endogenous FAM188B in cell lines. FAM188B was stained with Alexa Fluor 594 dye conjugated anti-FAM188B antibody and images were obtained by fluorescence inverted microscope. Hoechst33342 indicates nucleus. Scale bar = $10 \mu m$



8. Treatment of chemotherapeutic agents is more effective in FAM188B down-regulated cells

Cisplatin and etoposide are the most widely used anti-cancer drugs for chemotherapy. Cisplatin crosslinks with the purine base on DNA to interfere with the DNA repair mechanism and causes apoptosis.³⁸ Etoposide also causes DNA strand breakage due to form the ternary complex with DNA and Topoisomerase II enzyme.³⁹ To examine the effect of anti-cancer drugs, I analyzed cell survival after cisplatin or etoposide treatment in AGS treated with or without siFAM188B by using MTT assay. Two anti-cancer drugs significantly reduced the cell survival rate in siFAM188B treated cells (Figure 11A and 11B). Therefore, chemotherapeutic agents were more effective in FAM188B down-regulated condition. This suggests that it can be applicated in gastric cancer, which shows low FAM188B expression, as a possible mediation.





Figure 11. Effects of anti-cancer drugs on cell survival of AGS cells treated with siFAM188B. (A) Cells were simultaneously treated with cisplatin and siFAM188B. (B) AGS cells were simultaneously treated with etoposide and siFAM188B. Cell survival was measured by MTT assay. All experiments were performed triplicate. Error bar indicates S.D. * p<0.05



9. FAM188B is related to resistance to chemotherapeutics

Using immunohistochemistry of tissue microarrays, the expression of FAM188B protein was analyzed in gastric cancer lesions in a total of 107 gastric cancer patients (Table 4). Fundic glands showed strong positivity, and pyloric glands, foveolar epithelium and intestinal metaplasia showed moderate to weak signals. The staining pattern was mostly cytoplasmic with occasional luminal surface staining. Representative immunostained images showing 'High' and 'Low' FAM188B expression in gastric cancer are presented in Figure 12A.

A statistical analysis revealed that FAM188B expression was significantly associated with the sex of the patient and the size and pathological classification of the lesion (Table 3). High expression was more frequent in males (86.1%, n=31) than in females (13.9%, n=5) (p=0.014), and lesions were larger in the FAM188B low-expression group (5.95±2.84 cm) than in the high-expression group (4.88±1.87 cm) (p=0.045). Notably, differences in pathological characteristics between FAM188B 'Low' and 'High' groups were also significant, based on differentiation status by Lauren classification (FAM188B high: 61.1% in intestinal type, 25.0% in diffuse type; p<0.001). However, FAM188B expression itself as a prognostic factor showed no significance in terms of either disease-free survival (p=0.585) or overall survival (p=0.388) (Figure 12B). Thus, I assessed whether the efficacy of chemotherapy depended on FAM188B expression. Intriguingly, both disease-free and overall survival were improved by adjuvant chemotherapy in the FAM188B 'Low' group



(Figure 12C), but no survival benefit of chemotherapy was observed in the FAM188B 'High' group (Figure 12D). The consistent result was found after adjusting the effects of other prognostic factors. These findings suggest that FAM188B expression can be used as a predictive marker of chemotherapeutic efficacy.







Figure 12. FAM188B resists to chemotherapeutic agents. (A) Immunohistochemistry of gastric cancer tissues. Representative images of FAM188B 'High' (left panel) and FAM188B 'Low' (right panel) are presented. (B) Differences in disease-free survival and overall survival were not statistically significant between FAM188B 'Low' patients and FAM188B 'High' patients (p=0.585 and p=0.388 for disease-free and overall survival, respectively). (C) The dependence of differences in disease-free survival and overall survival of FAM188B 'Low' patients on adjuvant chemotherapy. Patients receiving adjuvant therapy showed higher disease-free survival (p=0.0031) and overall survival (p=0.0015) than those than without adjuvant chemotherapy. (D) The dependence of differences in disease-free survival and overall survival of FAM188B 'High' patients on adjuvant chemotherapy. There was no significant difference in disease-free survival (p=0.4562) or overall survival (p=0.4256) between patients receiving and not receiving adjuvant therapy.



	FAM188B	FAM188B	
	'Low' expression	'High' expression	P-value
	(<i>n</i> =71)	(<i>n</i> =36)	
Sex			0.014
Male	45 (63.4%)	31 (86.1%)	
Female	26 (36.6%)	5 (13.9%)	
Age (yr)	53.8±10.7	56.2±11.6	0.294
Size (cm)	5.95 ± 2.84	4.88 ± 1.87	0.045
Location			0.179
Upper body	17 (23.9%)	5 (13.9%)	
Middle body	31 (43.7%)	13 (36.1%)	
Lower body	23 (32.4%)	18 (50.0%)	
Pathological			
Classification			
Lauren type			< 0.001
Intestinal	18 (25.4%)	22 (61.1%)	
Diffuse	45 (63.4%)	9 (25.0%)	
Mixed	8 (11.3%)	5 (13.9%)	
T-stage			0.099
1-2	13 (18.3%)	13 (36.1%)	
3	30 (42.3%)	14 (38.9%)	
4	28 (39.4%)	9 (25.0%)	
N-stage			0.352
0-1	27 (38.0%)	15 (41.7%)	
2	19 (26.8%)	13 (36.1%)	
3	25 (35.2%)	8 (22.2%)	

Table4.RelationshipbetweenFAM188Bexpressionandclinicopathological characteristics in 107 gastric cancer patients



	FAM188B	FAM188B	
	'Low' expression	'High' expression	P-value
	(<i>n</i> =71)	(<i>n</i> =36)	
Stage			0.603
II	24 (33.8%)	14 (38.9%)	
III	47 (66.2%)	22 (61.1%)	
Adjuvant			0 247
Chemotherapy	36 (50.7%)	14 (38.9%)	0.247
Not done Done	35 (49.3%)	22 (61.1%)	
Recurrence			0.620
in 5 yr	46 (64 8%)	25 (69 4%)	0.050
Absent	25(35.2%)	23(0).4%	
Present	23 (33.270)	11 (30.070)	
Death in 5 yr			0.445
Deceased	44 (62.0%)	25 (69.4%)	
Survived	27 (38.0%)	11 (30.6%)	
Recur. or Death			0.636
in 5 yr	42 (50, 20/)	22(62.00())	0.050
Recurred	42 (59.2%)	23 (03.9%)	
Non-recurred	29 (40.8%)	13 (36.1%)	



10. FAM188B is expressed in other cancer cell lines and tissues.

To determine the expression of FAM188B in other cancers, I first searched for mRNA expression in the Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (CCLE) database.²³ Most of solid cancer cell lines express high *FAM188B* mRNA except lymphoma, leukemia, B-cell, T-cell, and chondrosarcoma (Figure 13A). Next, mRNA expression level was confirmed in various cancer cell lines and found that colon cancer cell lines (HCT-116, SW620 and HT-29) and breast cancer cell lines (JIMT1 and MDA-MB-231) highly expressed *FAM188B* mRNA (Figure 13B). The protein expression pattern of endogenous FAM188B in several cell lines was similar to mRNA expression (Figure 13C). These results proposed that the existence of hypothetical protein FAM188B was confirmed experimentally and it is highly expressed in colorectal and breast cancer cells.





Figure 13. Confirmation of *FAM188B* mRNA and protein expression level. (A) *FAM188B* mRNA expression levels in CCLE database. Box-and-whisker plots show the distribution of mRNA expression for each cancer type. Line in the box indicates median and dashed line indicates mean. (B) mRNA of FAM188B was absolutely quantitated by qRT-PCR using 12 cell lines. Error bar indicates S.D. (C) Whole cell lysates were separated with SDS-PAGE and detected by anti-FAM188B and anti-GAPDH antibodies.



11. FAM188B is highly expressed in colon cancer tissues.

According to the previous results, I found that FAM188B is highly expressed in gastric cancer and knockdown of FAM188B results in apoptosis and additional chemotherapy significantly reduced cell survival. Since FAM188B also expressed in other cell lines, especially in colon and breast cancer cell lines, public database Oncomine (www.oncomine.org)²⁶ was used to search the mRNA expression of tumor tissues. Of the twenty other cancer types, *FAM188B* mRNA expression increased only in 3 colon cancer analysis sets (Figure 14A). To examine in more detail, I investigated the expression of FAM188B in each of the three datasets. *FAM188B* mRNA expression was highly increased in multiple CRC data sets^{24, 25} (TCGA Colorectal 2, $p=2.48\times10-16$; GSE20916, $p=6.59\times10-7$; GSE20842, $p=2.68\times10-26$) (Figure 14B). These data confirmed that FAM188B is up-regulated in colorectal cancer tissues. Therefore, I decided to identify the function of FAM188B in colorectal cancer.



(A)



Figure 14. Analysis of FAM188B expression in 20 distinct cancer types. (A) RNA-seq. analyses of FAM188B were displayed in Oncomine webpage. (B) FAM188B expression comparison between normal and tumor patient tissues using TCGA colorectal 2, GSE20916, and GSE20842 data set. Upper and lower dots indicate the maximum and minimum values. The middle line in the box indicates median.



12. FAM188B down-regulation leads to cell death in colon cancer cell lines.

To understand the function of FAM188B, I knocked down FAM188B expression using FAM188B-specific siRNA in the three colon cancer cell lines HCT-116, HT-29 and SW620 because these cell lines have different mutations. From the COSMIC Cell Line Project, HT-29 and SW620 cell lines have p.R273H mutation but not in HCT-116. K-ras mutation was detected in HCT-116 and SW620 cell line.⁴⁰ Transfection of cells with siFAM188B decreased FAM188B mRNA expression from 24 hr to 96 hr as determined by qRT-PCR (Figure 15A, Figure 16A and 16E) whereas negative control (NC) siRNA had little effect on FAM188B expression. FAM188B protein levels were also reduced by siFAM188B, as determined by Western blot (Figure 15B, Figure 16B and 16F). To test the effects of FAM188B knockdown on cell growth, two different FAM188B-targeting siRNAs (siFAM188B and siFAM188B-2) were used. After knockdown of FAM188B by siFAM188B or siFAM188B-2, HCT-116 cell growth decreased with time (Figure 15C, Figure 16C and 16G). A microscopic analysis of DAPI-stained cells also revealed that siFAM188B treatment increased brightly fluorescent and fragmented nuclei, which is indicative of apoptosis (Figure 15D). As cell growth inhibition could be occurred either by cell cycle arrest or cell death, I examined the effect of FAM188B knockdown on cell cycle. Interestingly, the sub-G0/G1 population increased in the siFAM188B-treated cells, which corresponds to apoptotic cells (Figure 15E). In addition, FAM188B knockdown increased the population of



Annexin V/PI–stained cells. Apoptosis induced by siFAM188B was not limited to HCT-116 cells because siFAM188B treatment also increased Annexin V/PI-positive cells in other colon cancer cell lines, HT-29 and SW620 compared with NC siRNA-treated cells (Figure 15F, Figure 16D and 16H). All these data suggest that down-regulation of FAM188B expression in colon cancer cells leads to apoptosis.







Figure 15. Effects of FAM188B knockdown on cell death in HCT-116. (A) mRNA level of *FAM188B* on HCT-116 cells treated with negative control siRNA or siFAM188B was absolutely quantitated by qRT-PCR. Error bar indicates S.D. (B) Lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and detected by anti-FAM188B antibody and anti-GAPDH antibody as an internal control. (C) HCT-116 cells were transfected with NC siRNA, siFAM188B, or siFAM188B-2 and images were taken for cell growth. Scale bar indicates 50 μ m. (D) Cells treated with siFAM188B and stained by Hoechst33342. White arrowheads: fragmented nuclei. Scale bar indicates 20 μ m. (E) Effect of siFAM188B on cell cycle was measured by flow cytometry. (F) Cells were stained with Annexin V/PI at 72 hr after siRNA transfection and analyzed by flow cytometry (PI stained cells apoptosis population: UR and UL).






Figure 16. Confirmation of the cell death phenotype in HT-29 and SW620 colon cancer cell lines treated with siFAM188B. (A and E) mRNA level of *FAM188B* on HT-29 cells (A) or SW620 (E) treated with NC siRNA or siFAM188B was absolutely quantitated by qRT-PCR. Error bar indicates S.D. (B and F) Lysates of HT-29 (B) or SW620 cells (F) were separated by SDS-PAGE and detected by anti-FAM188B antibody and anti-GAPDH antibody as an internal control. (C and G) The images of siFAM188B treated HT-29 (C) and SW620 cells (G) were captured for 72 hr. Scale bar represents 200 μm. (D and H) HT-29 (D) or SW620 cells (H) were stained with Annexin V/PI at 72 hr after siRNA transfection and analyzed by flow cytometry (PI stained cells apoptosis population: UR and UL).



13. The identification of FAM188B-interacting partners

To investigate the mechanism of FAM188B involvement in cell death, potential cellular FAM188B binding partners were analyzed by LC/MS-MS (Figure 17A). Mass peaks from MS searches against the database identified a total of 104 unique proteins bound to FAM188B. These proteins were analyzed using the DAVID server⁴¹ and String-DB⁴² to cluster proteins according to their involvement in intracellular biological processes and evidence-based interacting groups, respectively. As expected, based on results obtained by FAM188B down-regulation, many FAM188B-binding proteins were involved in cell cycle regulation and apoptosis. Notably, clusters on the interaction map of FAM188B-binding proteins revealed several including clusters the tumor-suppressor proteins p53 as well as USP7 (Figure 17B, arrows). Interestingly, when I immunoprecipitated p53 proteins, I observed that FAM188B as well as USP7 were in the p53 immunocomplexes (Figure 17C), indicating that FAM188B forms a complex with p53.





Figure 17. Analysis of FAM188B-interacting proteins. (A) FLAG-tagged FAM188B was overexpressed in HEK-293 cells and immunoprecipitated complexes of FLAG-tagged FAM188B were resolved on SDS-PAGE gels. Image of Coomassie-blue staining of the gel is shown. (B) The resolved proteins in (A) were processed for LC/MS-MS analysis and searched against String-DB to see the interactions in 'Evidence View'. Black arrow indicates interacting protein separately confirmed by immunoprecipitation. (C) Validation of FAM188B interaction to USP7 and p53 by immunoprecipitation of HEK-293 cell lysate with p53 (DO-1) antibody and immunoblotted with indicated antibodies.



14. FAM188B silencing activates p53 and its downstream pathway.

Because p53 is an important regulator for cell death control, I further examined a possible association of p53 in the siFAM188B-induced apoptosis in more detail. When cells were stained for p53, more p53 were localized in the nucleus in the siFAM188-treated cells than in the NC siRNA-treated cells (Figure 18A). Consistent with these immunocytochemistry data, more p53 protein was detected in the nucleus fraction than in the cytosolic fraction when FAM188B was knockdown (Figure 18B). Next, I tested whether p53 is activated in the FAM188B knocked down cells by immunoblotting using antibodies that recognize Ser15-phosphorylated p53 (active form of p53).⁴³ FAM188B knockdown increased p53 as well as Ser15-phosphorylated p53, and thus enhanced protein levels of p53-regulated genes, including p21, PUMA, and BAX, which are in the apoptosis pathway (Figure 18C).

To further test p53 activation transcriptionally, promoter assay was performed using p21 promoter-luciferase construct because p21 is known to be a p53 target gene.⁴⁴ siFAM188B treatment increased the transcriptional activity of p53 toward its downstream target p21 by ~ 2-fold (Figure 19A and 19B). Moreover, chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays using p53 antibodies showed increased binding of p53 to BAX (Figure 19C) and PUMA promoters (Figure 19D) in the siFAM188B-treated cells. These results show that FAM188B down-regulation activates p53, resulting in upregulation of apoptosis related genes, including BAX and PUMA, which leads to cell death.





Scale bar=20 µm

(B)

(C)











Figure 18. Knockdown of FAM188B activates the p53 downstream pathway. (A) p53 was primarily stained by p53 (DO-1) antibody and AlexaFlour 594 was used as secondary antibody. Images were obtained by fluorescence inverted microscope. (Scale bar = $20 \ \mu m$) (B) translocated p53 was detected by Western blot after cytoplasmic and nuclear fraction. PARP and α -tubulin are the nuclear and cytoplasmic control, respectively. (C) activated p53 downstream pathway proteins in HCT-116 treated with NC siRNA or siFAM188B were detected by indicated antibodies.





Figure 19. Knockdown of *FAM188B* **results in activation of the p53 downstream pathway.** (A-B) Activation of the p21 promoter was significantly increased by siFAM188B treatment at 24 (A) and 48 hr (B). (C-D) The p53-responsive element of BAX (C) and PUMA promoter regions (D) was measured by ChIP qRT-PCR assays.



15. Expectation of FAM188B three-dimensional protein structure

From the FAM188B amino acid sequences, I converted it as a pdb file format in Phyre2 web server⁴⁵ and visualized using PyMOL 1.7 program. The structure looked like a "golf club head" (Figure 20). Unexpectedly, FAM188B has many alpha helix structures, indicated by cyan, which easily crosses the biological membranes because of its hydrophobicity. The predicted sites of USP7 binding motifs, indicated by yellow, were located in surface region. Therefore, I hypothesized the interaction between FAM188B and USP7 regulates p53.

To compare the 3D-modeling structure. another web server SWISS-MODEL⁴⁶ was used. However, SWISS-MODEL showed only 5 homologous protein structure parts such as FGFR1 Oncogene Partner (FOP), FAM63A/MINDY-1, Probable GTPase engC, Noggin, and PlyCB. FOP was identified a fusion partner of FGFR1 in leukemia-associated chromosomal translocation and found as a centrosome protein.⁴⁷ FAM63A/MINDY-1 is recently identified as a deubiquitinase specifically cleaving at Lys-48-linked poly ubiquitin which is a protein degradation signal.¹¹ engC is a ribosome GTPase protein in Streptococcus genus. Noggin is known to regulate a major class of metabologens, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs).⁴⁸ PlyCB is a lysin from the streptococcal bacteriophage C₁ subunit B.⁴⁹ After the analysis of these proteins annotation, structural comparisons give no information for the function of FAM188B.





Figure 20. Prediction of FAM188B ternary structure. Predicted FAM188B structure was drawn by ribbon diagram (upper) and surface representation (lower). Cyan represents alpha helix structure. Yellow indicates the USP7 binding motifs.



16. FAM188B regulates p53 stability via interaction with USP7

To determine how FAM188B knockdown enhances p53 protein levels, FAM188B-interacting proteins were identified by LC/MS-MS (Figure 17B). Out of FAM188B binding proteins, USP7 and p53 related to apoptosis. I hypothesized that USP7 is a mediator to regulate deubiquitination of p53. In accordance with this, the online protein domain prediction site, 'Eukaryotic Linear Motif resources',⁵⁰ also predicted the presence of a USP7 binding motifs in FAM188B (Figure 21A). USP7 protein was detected in FAM188B immunoprecipitates in the cells with FAM188B over-expression (Figure 21B), indicating a complex formation of FAM188B with USP7. To investigate which motif of FAM188B is responsible for its complex formation with USP7, either FLAG-tagged wild type or mutant FAM188B with deletion of USP7 binding motif-1 (Δ USP7-1) or USP7 binding motif-2 (Δ USP7-2) were overexpressed in HCT-116 cells, followed by immunoprecipitation of exogenous FAM188B using anti-FLAG antibodies. USP7 was consistently found in the wild type FAM188B immunocomplexes but USP7 levels decreased in the mutant FAM188B immunocomplexes (AUSP7-2), suggesting that USP7-2 motifs of FAM188B are important for its complex formation with USP7 (Figure 21C). Next, to examine whether USP7 interacts with p53, Co-IP assay was performed after etoposide treatment to increase p53 expression. Etoposide treatment resulted in an increase in p53 and a decrease in FAM188B. p53 was found in the USP7 immunocomplexes and this complex formation increased in etoposide



treatment (Figure 21D). Next, I tested whether FAM188B levels affect to complex formation of USP7 and p53. A basal level of USP7 was detected in the p53 immunocomplexes. However, interestingly, this complex formation appeared to increase in the siFAM188B treated cells after 24 hr, and it became weaker at 48 hr although the endogenous USP7 protein expression was not changed by FAM188B silencing (Figure 21E).

To confirm whether FAM188B is involved in p53 deubiquitination, I examined the change in level of ubiquitinated p53 after FAM188B knockdown in the cells expressing HA-tagged ubiquitin. Compared with NC siRNA-treated cells, lower p53 level was detected in the HA-immunoprecipitated complexes from siFAM188B-treated cells (Figure 22A). In addition, the level of HA-tagged ubiquitin decreased in the p53 immunocomplexes from siFAM188B-treated cells compared with those of NC siRNA-treated cells. A lower level of endogenous ubiquitinated p53 was also detected in the p53 immunocomplexes from siFAM188B-treated cells (Figure 22B), while ubiquitination of total protein was increased in siFAM188B-treated cells.





Figure 21. USP7 interacts with FAM188B. (A) Predicted position of seven USP7 binding motifs was indicated on FAM188B protein. Δ USP7-1 and -2 are the position of deletion mutants. (B) Co-IP of overexpressed FAM188B and USP7 in HCT-116 cell. (C) Verification of the interaction between FAM188B and USP7 using overexpression of wild type and Δ USP7 FAM188B constructs. (D) Lysates from HCT-116 cells treated with or without etoposide (5 μ M) were immunoprecipitated and immunoblotted with indicated antibodies. Eto: etoposide (E) FAM188B silencing increased the interaction between USP7 and p53. Cell lysates from HCT-116 cells treated with NC siRNA or siFAM188B for 24 and 48 hr were immunoprecipitated with anti-p53 antibody and immunoblotted with anti-USP7 antibody.





Figure 22. Knockdown of FAM188B regulates p53 deubiquitination. (A) HA-tagged ubiquitin (5 μg) was transfected to HCT-116. Cell lysates from HCT-116 treated with NC siRNA or siFAM188B were immunoprecipitated by anti-HA antibody and immunoblotted with indicated antibodies. (B) Cell lysates from HCT-116 co-transfected with HA-tagged ubiquitin and NC siRNA or siFAM188B were immunoprecipitated by anti-p53 (DO-1) antibody and immunoblotted with indicated antibodies.



17. FAM188B knockdown inhibits tumor growth in vivo.

To further investigate the effect of FAM188B down-regulation on tumor growth, I established a shFAM188B-inducibile HCT116 stable cell line. Doxycycline induced FAM188B shRNA. which led to FAM188B down-regulation (Figure 23A). The numbers of colonies were reduced by FAM188B shRNAs especially in shFAM188B#2 stable cell line (Figure 23B). examined the effects of FAM188B knockdown Next. I on anchorage-independent colony formation by soft agar assay. When HCT-116 cells were treated with siFAM188B, anchorage-independent colony formation was significantly decreased (Figure 23C). These data indicated that FAM188B might have an oncogenic function.

To test the effect of FAM188B silencing on tumor growth in vivo, HCT-116 cells were subcutaneously xenografted into BALB/c nude mice, and FAM188B siRNA was delivered by electroporation. Tumor volume was regularly measured after treatment with FAM188B siRNA. The growth of siFAM188B-treated tumors was significantly reduced from the first week compared to that of NC siRNA treated tumors (Figure 24A, top). When the tumors were removed from the sacrificed mice, siFAM188B-treated tumors were smaller than the NC siRNA-treated tumors (Figure 24A, bottom). To verify the FAM188B knockdown in the xenografted tumors, tumor tissues were processed for immunostaining using anti-FAM188B antibodies. Immunohistochemistry analysis showed that FAM188B protein levels reduced,



while p53 protein levels increased, in the siFAM188B-treated tumors (Figure 24B). These data indicate that FAM188B expression is important for tumor growth *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Taken altogether, our data indicate that FAM188B has a critical oncogenic effect, possibly *via* enhancing p53 ubiquitination and thus p53 down-regulation. Therefore, targeting FAM188B could be a good strategy to control tumor growth.







Figure 23. FAM188B knockdown effects on cell proliferation. (A) shRNA stable cell lines were confirmed by quantitative real-time PCR. mRNA expression of *FAM188B* was normalized by *GAPDH*. Data were shown as mean \pm S.D. (B) FAM188B downregulated cells were inhibited proliferation in HCT-116 as indicated with colony forming assay. DOX indicates doxycycline. (C) HCT-116 cells (5.0×10^3) treated with NC siRNA or siFAM188B was cultured in soft agar for 18 days. The colonies were stained with INT solution. All experiments were performed triplicate.



(A)







Figure 24. Knockdown of FAM188B inhibits cell proliferation *in vivo*. (A) HCT-116 cells (2.0×10^6) were injected into the nude mice (n=7) subcutaneously and tumor growth was monitored twice a week. When tumor size reached 30mm³, siRNAs were treated a week for 3 wk. Black arrow indicates the siRNA treatment. Tumor size was measured at indicated time points (representative images of tumors; NC siRNA (top lane) and siFAM188B (bottom lane)). (B) Immunohistochemistry of FAM188B and p53 protein detected from tumor tissues from mice using control IgG, anti-FAM188B and anti-p53 (FL393) antibodies (Scale bar = 100 µm).





Figure 25. A proposed model for regulation of p53 stability by FAM188B and USP7. High level of FAM188B maintains the tumor suppressor protein p53 as low level through interacting with USP7 to prevent the deubiquitination of p53 (left, upper). Reduced FAM188B stabilizes the p53 which interacts with free USP7 and results in cell death (right, upper). FAM188B might be act as an oncogene in this proposed model (lower).



IV. DISCUSSION

Cancer progression is the result of various biological processes, and may also be altered by unexplored functions of novel/hypothetical genes, and/or variants of known genes. Despite the tremendous effort devoted to analyze available genomic information, as much as 59% of human genes were annotated as 'hypothetical' when the human genome was first reported,^{8,51} and 24–31% of Entrez/ensemble database entries are currently annotated as 'uncharacterized'.¹⁰ FAM188B was also annotated as 'a hypothetical protein' for which the transcript is the only supporting evidence for functionality in public databases when this study was begun. Hypothetical proteins are increasing because of the development of the sequencing techniques. The database in UniProt is also increasing with accumulation of the sequencing data and there is a huge difference between UniProtKB/TrEMBL which is automatically annotated and is not reviewed and UniProt/Swiss-Prot which is manually annotated and is reviewed,⁵² suggesting that unannotated novel proteins are dramatically identified every year. In addition to these accumulating data, up-regulated hypothetical proteins have been discovered in cancers.⁵³ Therefore, identifying the characteristics of hypothetical protein is important for understanding mechanisms of tumorigenesis as well as provision of novel therapeutic targets.

To determine whether FAM188B is a protein-coding gene or a non-coding gene, I verified poly-(A) tail which is a marker of mature mRNA. If the gene does encode a protein, it would be interesting to characterize the effect of the



protein on tumorigenesis; otherwise, the only possible use of the gene would be as a biomarker. However, the mature mRNA sequence of FAM188B from the colon cancer cell line HCT-116 showed a poly-A signal sequence in its 3' UTR, suggesting that this gene could indeed encode a protein. This evidence led us to generate a rabbit polyclonal antibody to detect the FAM188B protein. Using the generated anti-FAM188B specific antibody, I could detect over-expressed or endogenous FAM188B protein by immunoblotting and immunohistochemistry. From the results, the location of FAM188B is in the cytosol and rarely exists in nucleus. Furthermore, as revealed by transcriptome profiles of the public databases including the CCLE, Oncomine and NCBI GEO,⁵⁴ the expression of FAM188B was significantly enhanced in tumors at the mRNA level. These results suggest that FAM188B has important housekeeping functions in maintaining cell viability.

Generally, the first way to try to understand the function of specific genes is to remove it. FAM188B siRNA was treated to gastric cancer cell line AGS and/or colon cancer cell line HCT-116 and I observed retarded proliferation and suspended dead cells. It suggests FAM188B is an important gene for survival. However, identifying genuine interacting partners—a key to the known world of biological pathways—is crucial to understand the working mechanisms of this unknown protein. The catalogue of FAM188B-interacting proteins was defined through immunoprecipitation of FAM188B followed by LC/MS-MS analysis. A clustering of these proteins according to their Gene Ontology (GO)



biological process showed that the major clusters were 'protein translation' and 'cell death/apoptosis,' followed by 'chromatin regulation' and 'RNA-binding proteins'. Among these biological processes, cell death and protein degradation categories were of interest, because knockdown experiments suggested that this protein might be involved in regulating cell survival. Thus, I verified the FAM188B-interacting proteins identified by mass-spectrometry using co-immunoprecipitation, and then proceeded to characterize FAM188B functions related to cell death. Immunoprecipitation using an anti-p53 (DO-1) antibody confirmed the interaction of FAM188B with p53. Intriguingly, GO analyses categorized several proteins into an 'ubiquitin-dependent protein' group; among them was USP7 (also known as HAUSP), which clustered with p53 as a FAM188B-interacting protein. USP7 is known to stabilize p53 by deubiquitinating it, as well as its inhibitor MDM2.^{55, 56} As such, USP7 has come to be considered a therapeutic target in many cancers.^{14, 21} In breast cancer, TSPYL5 was reported to reduce p53 levels through physical interactions with USP7.⁵⁷ In addition to USP7, USP2a, and USP10 are also involved in regulating p53 ubiquitination in different contexts;¹⁴ thus, evidence supporting USP7 as the major p53 modulator is inconclusive. In our study, however, the amount of FAM188B-bound USP7 dramatically increased upon FAM188B overexpression in HCT-116 cells. Conversely, FAM188B down-regulation increased unbound USP7 and this free-USP7 may decrease the level of ubiquitinated p53. The fact that USP7 plays a pivotal role in deubiquitinating both p53 and MDM2, as



noted above, seemingly undermines the interpretation that USP7 is a p53 stabilizer. This may be the reason why the decrease of ubiquitinated p53 in siFAM188B treated cells was not extreme. However, the shorter half-life of MDM2 compared to p53, as a result of MDM2 self-ubiquitination,^{22, 58} may ultimately lead to cell death through accumulated p53. If a mediator exists, that could be the answer to the questions "What determines whether p53 or MDM2 is the primary USP7 substrate?"¹⁹ and "What determines how USP7 is regulated?".²² FAM188B might be the mediator. In tumor cells, high levels of FAM188B would be predicted to function by eliminating p53 and keeping it at a low level to allow tumor cells to grow. Therefore, elevated expression of FAM188B in tumor tissues indicates that FAM188B would strongly inhibit p53 deubiquitination and thereby provide tolerance against stressful conditions, such as treatment with cytotoxic agents.

The most intriguing result in this study was confirming the tumorigenicity of FAM188B. The colony forming ability of FAM188B was significantly abolished by silencing its expression in vitro. Interestingly, in soft agar colony formation assays, a golden standard to determine cellular transformation and tumorigenicity,⁵⁹ FAM188B silencing showed dramatic reduction of anchorage-independent colony growth. Moreover, in vivo tumor growth assays also revealed that FAM188B led to a dramatic difference in tumor masses of xenografted HCT-116 BALB/c nude in mice. Accordingly immunohistochemical analyses revealed that FAM188B is a vital gene for



proliferation or survival. Although additional studies with human tissue are also required to assess feasibility, these results suggest that FAM188B over-expression could be used as a predictive biomarker for cancer diagnosis, and inhibiting FAM188B activity could be utilized as the putative target of cancer progression. Although further studies are required to reveal how FAM188B expression is regulated, our findings clearly support the conclusion that FAM188B is an important regulator of p53 stability in growing cells.

As a mediator of USP7, I have elucidated mechanisms that affect cell survival by controlling ubiquitination of p53, but there are many things to be revealed. First, I have to prove that FAM188B is actually acting as deubiquitinase. In recent study,¹¹ FAM188B was classified as MINDY family and named probable ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase MINDY-4, but failed to provide experimental evidence for its function.

During the additional experiment to stratify unknown functions of FAM188B in the tumor cells, I also observed that down-regulation of FAM188B results in decrease of FOXM1 expression which is a transcription factor and promotes oncogenesis with its aberrant upregulation. Since knockdown of FOXM1 sequentially reduced the CD44 expression level,⁶⁰ I FAM188B tumorigenesis speculate that promotes the through the FOXM1-CD44 pathway independently of the ability to regulate the stability of p53 through USP7. As a result, I observed the elevated expression of CD44v8-10, one of the CD44 variants and elucidated as a marker of cancer



stem cell (CSC).61

In this study, the hypothetical protein FAM188B was revealed to be a genuine protein whose expression is significantly elevated in colon cancer cell lines. On the basis of FAM188B loss-of-function analyses, I suggest that FAM188B functions to sustain cell viability by decreasing p53 activation, through inhibition of the deubiquitinase USP7. This provides significant insight into the importance of FAM188B in enhancing cell survival, as well its use as a potential target in cancer therapy. Further research on the details of FAM188B regulatory mechanisms, as well conditions with p53 mutations, will increase our understanding of FAM188B as a potential therapeutic target.



V. CONCLUSION

In summary, I experimentally proved that hypothetical protein FAM188B is a genuine protein and evolutionarily conserved from fish to human. I identified FAM188B downregulation leads to cell death, suggesting that it is an important gene for survival. I also found that reduction of FAM188B enhances chemotherapeutic effects in gastric cancer *in vitro* and *in vivo*. To understand the mechanism of FAM188B, HCT-116, a colon cancer cell, was used and found that the p53 pathway was activated by FAM188B knockdown. I investigated ubiquitination to determine how the p53 pathway is activated since USP7 and p53 interact with FAM188B. Finally, I identified FAM188B regulates p53 stability through interacting with deubiquitinase USP7 *in vitro*. Taken together, a putative oncogene FAM188B interacts with USP7 and regulates p53 stability by participating in deubiquitination. Our study of FAM188B will contribute to the knowledge on its mechanism in tumorigenesis and provide a clue for the development of future cancer therapeutics.



REFERENCES

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer 2015; 136: E359-386.
- Naor D, Nedvetzki S, Golan I, Melnik L, Faitelson Y. CD44 in cancer. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 2002; 39: 527-579.
- Wu K, Nie Y, Guo C, Chen Y, Ding J, Fan D. Molecular basis of therapeutic approaches to gastric cancer. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 24: 37-41.
- Yin M, Hu Z, Tan D, Ajani JA, Wei Q. Molecular epidemiology of genetic susceptibility to gastric cancer: focus on single nucleotide polymorphisms in gastric carcinogenesis. Am J Transl Res 2009; 1: 44-54.
- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 2015; 65: 87-108.
- Bogaert J, Prenen H. Molecular genetics of colorectal cancer. Ann Gastroenterol 2014; 27: 9-14.
- Cancer Genome Atlas N. Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. Nature 2012; 487: 330-337.
- Venter JC, Adams MD, Myers EW, Li PW, Mural RJ, Sutton GG et al. The sequence of the human genome. Science 2001; 291: 1304-1351.



- Lubec G, Afjehi-Sadat L, Yang JW, John JP. Searching for hypothetical proteins: theory and practice based upon original data and literature. Prog Neurobiol 2005; 77: 90-127.
- Pawlowski K. Uncharacterized/hypothetical proteins in biomedical 'omics' experiments: is novelty being swept under the carpet? Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic 2008; 7: 283-290.
- Abdul Rehman SA, Kristariyanto YA, Choi SY, Nkosi PJ, Weidlich S, Labib K et al. MINDY-1 Is a Member of an Evolutionarily Conserved and Structurally Distinct New Family of Deubiquitinating Enzymes. Mol Cell 2016; 63: 146-155.
- Wong RS. Apoptosis in cancer: from pathogenesis to treatment. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2011; 30: 87.
- Junttila MR, Evan GI. p53--a Jack of all trades but master of none. Nat Rev Cancer 2009; 9: 821-829.
- D'Arcy P, Wang X, Linder S. Deubiquitinase inhibition as a cancer therapeutic strategy. Pharmacol Ther 2015; 147: 32-54.
- 15. Lopez-Otin C, Hunter T. The regulatory crosstalk between kinases and proteases in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2010; 10: 278-292.
- Deshaies RJ, Joazeiro CA. RING domain E3 ubiquitin ligases. Annu Rev Biochem 2009; 78: 399-434.
- Fraile JM, Quesada V, Rodriguez D, Freije JM, Lopez-Otin C.
 Deubiquitinases in cancer: new functions and therapeutic options.



Oncogene 2012; 31: 2373-2388.

- Vucic D, Dixit VM, Wertz IE. Ubiquitylation in apoptosis: a post-translational modification at the edge of life and death. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2011; 12: 439-452.
- Li M, Brooks CL, Kon N, Gu W. A dynamic role of HAUSP in the p53-Mdm2 pathway. Mol Cell 2004; 13: 879-886.
- Meulmeester E, Maurice MM, Boutell C, Teunisse AF, Ovaa H, Abraham TE et al. Loss of HAUSP-mediated deubiquitination contributes to DNA damage-induced destabilization of Hdmx and Hdm2. Mol Cell 2005; 18: 565-576.
- 21. Pfoh R, Lacdao IK, Saridakis V. Deubiquitinases and the new therapeutic opportunities offered to cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 2015; 22: T35-54.
- Brooks CL, Gu W. p53 ubiquitination: Mdm2 and beyond. Mol Cell 2006; 21: 307-315.
- Barretina J, Caponigro G, Stransky N, Venkatesan K, Margolin AA, Kim S et al. The Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia enables predictive modelling of anticancer drug sensitivity. Nature 2012; 483: 603-607.
- 24. Gaedcke J, Grade M, Jung K, Camps J, Jo P, Emons G et al. Mutated KRAS results in overexpression of DUSP4, a MAP-kinase phosphatase, and SMYD3, a histone methyltransferase, in rectal carcinomas. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2010; 49: 1024-1034.
- 25. Skrzypczak M, Goryca K, Rubel T, Paziewska A, Mikula M, Jarosz D et



al. Modeling oncogenic signaling in colon tumors by multidirectional analyses of microarray data directed for maximization of analytical reliability. PLoS One 2010; 5.

- Rhodes DR, Kalyana-Sundaram S, Mahavisno V, Varambally R, Yu J, Briggs BB et al. Oncomine 3.0: genes, pathways, and networks in a collection of 18,000 cancer gene expression profiles. Neoplasia 2007; 9: 166-180.
- 27. Mi H, Huang X, Muruganujan A, Tang H, Mills C, Kang D et al. PANTHER version 11: expanded annotation data from Gene Ontology and Reactome pathways, and data analysis tool enhancements. Nucleic Acids Res 2017; 45: D183-D189.
- Ao J, Mu Y, Xiang LX, Fan D, Feng M, Zhang S et al. Genome sequencing of the perciform fish Larimichthys crocea provides insights into molecular and genetic mechanisms of stress adaptation. PLoS Genet 2015; 11: e1005118.
- Klein SL, Strausberg RL, Wagner L, Pontius J, Clifton SW, Richardson P. Genetic and genomic tools for Xenopus research: The NIH Xenopus initiative. Dev Dyn 2002; 225: 384-391.
- St John JA, Braun EL, Isberg SR, Miles LG, Chong AY, Gongora J et al. Sequencing three crocodilian genomes to illuminate the evolution of archosaurs and amniotes. Genome Biol 2012; 13: 415.
- 31. McClintock TS, Glasser CE, Bose SC, Bergman DA. Tissue expression



patterns identify mouse cilia genes. Physiol Genomics 2008; 32: 198-206.

- 32. Maudhoo MD, Ren D, Gradnigo JS, Gibbs RM, Lubker AC, Moriyama EN et al. De novo assembly of the common marmoset transcriptome from NextGen mRNA sequences. Gigascience 2014; 3: 14.
- 33. Yan G, Zhang G, Fang X, Zhang Y, Li C, Ling F et al. Genome sequencing and comparison of two nonhuman primate animal models, the cynomolgus and Chinese rhesus macaques. Nat Biotechnol 2011; 29: 1019-1023.
- 34. Urabe Y, Tanikawa C, Takahashi A, Okada Y, Morizono T, Tsunoda T et al. A genome-wide association study of nephrolithiasis in the Japanese population identifies novel susceptible Loci at 5q35.3, 7p14.3, and 13q14.1. PLoS Genet 2012; 8: e1002541.
- 35. Li W, Cowley A, Uludag M, Gur T, McWilliam H, Squizzato S et al. The EMBL-EBI bioinformatics web and programmatic tools framework. Nucleic Acids Res 2015; 43: W580-584.
- 36. Nam S, Lee J, Goh SH, Hong SH, Song N, Jang SG et al. Differential gene expression pattern in early gastric cancer by an integrative systematic approach. Int J Oncol 2012; 41: 1675-1682.
- Kramer N, Walzl A, Unger C, Rosner M, Krupitza G, Hengstschlager M et al. In vitro cell migration and invasion assays. Mutat Res 2013; 752: 10-24.
- 38. Tanida S, Mizoshita T, Ozeki K, Tsukamoto H, Kamiya T, Kataoka H et



al. Mechanisms of Cisplatin-Induced Apoptosis and of Cisplatin Sensitivity: Potential of BIN1 to Act as a Potent Predictor of Cisplatin Sensitivity in Gastric Cancer Treatment. Int J Surg Oncol 2012; 2012: 862879.

- Jamil S, Lam I, Majd M, Tsai SH, Duronio V. Etoposide induces cell death via mitochondrial-dependent actions of p53. Cancer Cell Int 2015; 15: 79.
- 40. Forbes SA, Bhamra G, Bamford S, Dawson E, Kok C, Clements J et al. The Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer (COSMIC). Curr Protoc Hum Genet 2008; Chapter 10: Unit 10 11.
- Huang da W, Sherman BT, Lempicki RA. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. Nat Protoc 2009; 4: 44-57.
- Szklarczyk D, Franceschini A, Wyder S, Forslund K, Heller D, Huerta-Cepas J et al. STRING v10: protein-protein interaction networks, integrated over the tree of life. Nucleic Acids Res 2015; 43: D447-452.
- Sakaguchi K, Saito S, Higashimoto Y, Roy S, Anderson CW, Appella E. Damage-mediated phosphorylation of human p53 threonine 18 through a cascade mediated by a casein 1-like kinase. Effect on Mdm2 binding. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 9278-9283.
- 44. Hill R, Bodzak E, Blough MD, Lee PW. p53 Binding to the p21 promoter is dependent on the nature of DNA damage. Cell Cycle 2008; 7:



2535-2543.

- Kelley LA, Mezulis S, Yates CM, Wass MN, Sternberg MJ. The Phyre2 web portal for protein modeling, prediction and analysis. Nat Protoc 2015; 10: 845-858.
- Biasini M, Bienert S, Waterhouse A, Arnold K, Studer G, Schmidt T et al. SWISS-MODEL: modelling protein tertiary and quaternary structure using evolutionary information. Nucleic Acids Res 2014; 42: W252-258.
- 47. Popovici C, Zhang B, Gregoire MJ, Jonveaux P, Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Birnbaum D et al. The t(6;8)(q27;p11) translocation in a stem cell myeloproliferative disorder fuses a novel gene, FOP, to fibroblast growth factor receptor 1. Blood 1999; 93: 1381-1389.
- 48. Krause C, Guzman A, Knaus P. Noggin. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2011;43: 478-481.
- Nelson D, Schuch R, Chahales P, Zhu S, Fischetti VA. PlyC: a multimeric bacteriophage lysin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006; 103: 10765-10770.
- 50. Dinkel H, Van Roey K, Michael S, Kumar M, Uyar B, Altenberg B et al. ELM 2016--data update and new functionality of the eukaryotic linear motif resource. Nucleic Acids Res 2016; 44: D294-300.
- Selvarajan S, Shanmughavel P. A Web based Database for Hypothetical Genes in the Human Genome. International Journal of Computer Applications 2011; 14: 10-13.



- 52. Gerlt JA. Tools and strategies for discovering novel enzymes and metabolic pathways. Perspectives in Science 2016; 9: 24-32.
- Birkenkamp-Demtroder K, Christensen LL, Olesen SH, Frederiksen CM, Laiho P, Aaltonen LA et al. Gene expression in colorectal cancer. Cancer Res 2002; 62: 4352-4363.
- 54. Barrett T, Wilhite SE, Ledoux P, Evangelista C, Kim IF, Tomashevsky M et al. NCBI GEO: archive for functional genomics data sets--update. Nucleic Acids Res 2013; 41: D991-995.
- Brooks CL, Li M, Hu M, Shi Y, Gu W. The p53--Mdm2--HAUSP complex is involved in p53 stabilization by HAUSP. Oncogene 2007; 26: 7262-7266.
- 56. Lee JT, Gu W. The multiple levels of regulation by p53 ubiquitination.Cell Death Differ 2010; 17: 86-92.
- 57. Epping MT, Meijer LA, Krijgsman O, Bos JL, Pandolfi PP, Bernards R. TSPYL5 suppresses p53 levels and function by physical interaction with USP7. Nat Cell Biol 2011; 13: 102-108.
- Marine JC, Lozano G. Mdm2-mediated ubiquitylation: p53 and beyond.
 Cell Death Differ 2010; 17: 93-102.
- 59. Rotem A, Janzer A, Izar B, Ji Z, Doench JG, Garraway LA et al. Alternative to the soft-agar assay that permits high-throughput drug and genetic screens for cellular transformation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015; 112: 5708-5713.


- Ju SY, Huang CY, Huang WC, Su Y. Identification of thiostrepton as a novel therapeutic agent that targets human colon cancer stem cells. Cell Death Dis 2015; 6: e1801.
- Lau WM, Teng E, Chong HS, Lopez KA, Tay AY, Salto-Tellez M et al. CD44v8-10 is a cancer-specific marker for gastric cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 2014; 74: 2630-2641.



ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN)

위장관암에서 hypothetical protein FAM188B의 분자세포생물학적

기능 분석

<지도교수 김 형 표>

연세대학교 대학원 의과학과

최 은 석

위암에서 엑손(Exon)이 다르게 발현하는 유전자들을 분석한 이전 연구에서, FAM188B는 염기 서열 분석을 통하여 유전자라고 추정되지만, 실험적으로는 증명되지 않은 "가설단백질 (hypothetical protein)"이었다. 가설단백질에 대해서는 현재까지 많은 연구가 되지 않았고, FAM188B의 발현 여부 및 그 기능에 대해서 밝혀진 바가 없었다. 이번 연구에서는 인간의 FAM188B 아미노산 서열 정보를 다른 종과 비교 분석하여 FAM188B가 척추동물들에서 진화적으로 보존되어 있는 것을 확인하고, 실제로 mRNA 및 단백질이 발현하는



것을 증명하였다. FAM188B가 진행성 위암으로 진행하는데 관여하는 것을 mRNA 분석을 통해 추정하였다. 종양 형성에 있어 FAM188B의 기능과 메커니즘을 밝히기 위해 위암 및 대장암 세포주에 FAM188B siRNA를 처리하여, 성장 억제와 세포가 사멸되는 현상을 관찰하였다. 세포 사멸은 FAM188B의 감소에 의해 p53이 증가하고 활성화되어 유도되었다. Mass spectrometry를 이용하여 FAM188B는 p53과 탈유비퀴틴화 효소인 USP7과 상호작용한다는 것을 발견하였다. 세포 및 동물 실험에서 FAM188B의 발현을 감소시키면 p53과 복합체 형성뿐만 아니라 p53의 유비퀴틴화를 전반적으로 감소시키며, 이 결과는 FAM188B와 USP7의 결합이 약해져 자유로워진 USP7에 의한 p53 탈유비퀴틴화가 진행된다는 증거를 제시하였다.

종합하면 FAM188B는 탈유비퀴틴화 효소인 UPS7과의 상호작용을 통하여 p53의 안정성을 조절하여 세포 성장을 증진시키며, 또한 FAM188B는 종양유전자로 추정할 수 있다. 따라서 앞으로 FAM188B 발현을 조절한다면 종양 성장을 억제하는 치료제로서의 새로운 가능성이 있다는 것을 제시하였다.

핵심되는 말: FAM188B, 탈유비퀴틴화 효소, USP7, p53, 가설단백질, 암



PUBLICATION LIST

- <u>Choi ES</u>, Lee H, Lee CH, Goh SH. Overexpression of KLHL23 protein from read-through transcription of PHOSPHO2-KLHL23 in gastric cancer increases cell proliferation. FEBS Open Bio, 2016;6(11):1155-64
- <u>Choi ES</u>, Kim H, Kim HP, Choi Y, Goh SH. CD44v8-10 as a potential theranostic biomarker for targeting disseminated cancer cells in advanced gastric cancer. Sci Rep, 2017;7(1):4930
- Cho MH, <u>Choi ES</u>, Kim S, Goh SH, Choi Y. Redox-Responsive Manganese Dioxide Nanoparticles for Enhanced MR Imaging and Radiotherapy of Lung Cancer. Front Chem, 2017;5:109
- <u>Choi ES</u>, Lee H, Sung JY, Lee CH, Jang H, Kim KT, Kim YN, Kim HP, Goh SH. FAM188B enhances cell survival via interaction with USP7. Cell Death Dis, 2018;9:633